

Engineering Geologic Maps of Northern Alaska, Harrison Bay Quadrangle

By L. David Carter and John P. Galloway

With a section on The Digitally Revised Engineering Geologic Maps of Northern Alaska by David W. Houseknecht, Christopher P. Garrity, and Donald C. Meares

Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government

Open-File Report 2005-1194

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

U.S. Department of the Interior

Gale A. Norton, Secretary

U.S. Geological Survey

Charles G. Groat, Director

U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia 2005

For product and ordering information: World Wide Web: http://www.usgs.gov/pubprod Telephone: 1-888-ASK-USGS

For more information on the USGS—the Federal source for science about the Earth, its natural and living resources, natural hazards, and the environment: World Wide Web: http://www.usgs.gov Telephone: 1-888-ASK-USGS

Although this report is in the public domain, permission must be secured from the individual copyright owners to reproduce any copyrighted material contained within this report.

Contents

The Digitally Revised Engineering Geologic Maps of Northern Alaska	1
ntroduction	2
Purpose	2
General Setting	2
Previous Work	3
This Study	3
Acknowledgments	3
Depositional History	4
Bedrock	4
Prince Creek Formation	4
Sagavanirktok Formation	4
Unnamed Marine Deposits	5
Unnamed Nonmarine deposits	5
Kuparuk Gravel	6
Jnconsolidated Deposits	6
Marine Deposits	6
Colvillian	7
Bigbendian	7
Fishcreekian	9
Wainwrightian ?	. 11
Pelukian	.12
Simpsonian	. 12

Fluvial and Deltaic Deposits	
Eolian Deposits	
Thaw-Lake Deposits	
Colluvial Deposits	
Sources of Information	

The Digitally Revised Engineering Geologic Maps of Northern Alaska

By David W. Houseknecht¹, Christopher P. Garrity¹, and Donald C. Meares²

The northeastern part of the National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska (NPRA) has become an area of active petroleum exploration during the past five years. Recent leasing and exploration drilling in the NPRA requires the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) to manage and monitor a spectrum of surface activities that include seismic surveying, exploration drilling, oil-field development drilling, construction of oil-production facilities, and construction of pipelines and access roads. BLM must routinely evaluate a variety of permit applications, environmental impact studies, and other documents that require rapid compilation and analysis of data pertaining to surface and subsurface geology, hydrology, and biology. In addition, BLM must monitor these activities and assess the impacts of these activities to the natural environment. Timely and accurate completion of these land-management tasks requires information regarding the properties and areal distribution of unconsolidated geologic units that cover the surface of the area.

To support these land-management tasks, a 1:250,000 engineering geologic map of the Harrison Bay Quadrangle, Alaska (Carter and Galloway, 1985) has been digitized. This report includes a print file of the map and of the text that accompanied the original map (Carter and Galloway, 1985), as well as links to GIS files for the map. These digital geologic products provide a scientific foundation that can be integrated with other datasets to support decisions pertaining to surface activities in northeastern NPRA.

Complementary maps of a high-priority area within the Harrison Bay quadrangle also are being released (Mars and others, 2005). Those maps, published at a scale of 1:63,360, include a Digital Terrain Model based on 5-meter-resolution IFSAR (Interferometric Synthetic Aperture Radar) data, a surface classification map based on 30-meter-resolution Landsat 7 ETM+ data, and a shaded-relief surface-classification map (generated by fusing the IFSAR and ETM+ datasets).

¹ U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA

² U.S. Bureau of Land Management, Fairbanks, AK

Engineering Geologic Maps of Northern Alaska, Harrison Bay Quadrangle³

By L. David Carter⁴ and John P. Galloway⁵

Introduction

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to present information concerning the surficial deposits and bedrock of the onshore part of the Harrison Bay Quadrangle that will be useful in making environmentally sound land management decisions. In addition, this report presents a summary of the depositional history of bedrock and unconsolidated deposits exposed in the Harrison Bay Quadrangle. Information pertinent to land management decisions is presented on maps and in tabular form on sheets 1 and 2, and the list of references following the text will lead the reader to additional sources of information regarding the geologic environment of the Harrison Bay Quadrangle.

General Setting

The Harrison Bay Quadrangle is bounded by latitudes 70° and 71° North and longitudes 150° and 153° West. About 8,020 km² or slightly more than half the total area is land and the remainder is occupied by the Beaufort Sea and its embayments. The principal settlement is the village of Nuiqsut, a town of about 320 people located on the west bank of Nechelik Channel, which is the westernmost distributary of the Colville River delta. Colville Village, a smaller settlement, is on Anachlik Island on the east side of the Colville River delta. Gravel airstrips are present at both settlements and commercial air service is available to Nuiqsut.

The Harrison Bay Quadrangle lies entirely within the Arctic Coastal Plain physiographic province (Wahrhaftig, 1965). Most of the map area is within the Teshekpuk Lake section of the Arctic Coastal Plain, which is a flat to gently rolling tundra-covered surface with numerous thaw lakes. The maximum altitude in the Teshekpuk Lake section is about 60 m and occurs in the southeast part of the quadrangle in an area of large, stabilized dunes. The altitudes of topographic highs gradually decrease northward, and at the coast the maximum altitudes range from 1 to 7 m at the tops of low coastal bluffs. A portion of the White Hills section of the Arctic Coastal Plain occurs in the southeast corner of the quadrangle, and is the extreme northern part of a broad, northeast-sloping plateau. The edge of the plateau in the Harrison Bay Quadrangle is a degraded, northeast trending bluff, the base of which is at an altitude of about 60 m. The plateau surface, which contains scattered thaw lakes, reaches a maximum altitude of about 125 m.

The major drainageways within the quadrangle are the Colville and Itkillik Rivers, which head in the Brooks Range. Both rivers flow within a single broad valley which at the south edge of the map is incised 35 to 40 m below the adjacent terrain. The Itkillik River joins the Colville River near the head of the Colville River delta. Streams within the Harrison Bay Quadrangle east of the valley of the Colville and Itkillik Rivers head on the coastal plain; streams west of the Colville River head on the coastal plain or in the Arctic Foothills.

³ Re-release of Open-File Report 85-256

⁴ Anchorage, Alaska

⁵ Menlo Park, California

Details of the topography are given under Topography and Drainage in the description of map units for this report. Information about the history of landscape development is incorporated in later sections.

Previous Work

The earliest geologic investigations were carried out by Schrader (1904) during a traverse across the Brooks Range, down the Anaktuvuk and Colville Rivers, and along the arctic coast to Cape Lisburne. Leffingwell (1919) made geologic observations along the Beaufort Sea coast, and summarized the observations of others who traveled the coast between 1826 and 1912. Smith and Mertie (1930) prepared a regional report on the geology of northwestern Alaska.

From 1944 to 1953 the U.S. Geological Survey aided the U.S. Navy in evaluating the resources of what was then called Naval Petroleum Reserve No. 4 (Reed, 1958), which included the part of the Harrison Bay Quadrangle west of the Colville River. Regional reports and maps based on these studies were prepared by Gryc and others (1951), Payne and others (1951), and by Lathram (1965). The geology of a part of the Harrison Bay Quadrangle was described by Brosgé and Whittington (1966). An examination of the unconsolidated deposits of the Petroleum Reserve and adjacent areas was carried out in 1949-50 by Black (1964).

Between the time of Black's fieldwork and the publication of his report, a study of the Quaternary geology of the Arctic Coastal Plain was carried out by O'Sullivan (1961). Interpretations of the late Cenozoic sea level history of the Arctic Coastal Plain are contained in O'Sullivan (1961), Black (1964), McCulloch (1967), Hopkins (1967), Sellmann and Brown (1973), Brigham (1983, 1984), and Carter and Brigham-Grette (in press).

For the past 20 years, research on the Colville River drainage basin and delta has been carried out by H.J. Walker of Louisiana State University and his students and colleagues (Walker, 1983).

With the passage of Public Law 94-258, the National Petroleum Reserve Act of 1976, Naval Petroleum Reserve No. 4 was renamed National Petroleum Reserve- Alaska (NPRA) and was placed under the jurisdiction of the Department of the Interior. An evaluation of the potential environmental impacts of oil and gas development was published by the Department of the Interior in 1979 (U.S. Department of Interior, 1979). The U.S. Geological Survey was assigned responsibility for exploration for oil and gas, and carried out an exploration program during 1976-81 (Bird, 1981a).

This Study

This report presents information obtained by fieldwork during the summers of 1977-1984. Fieldwork during 1977 and 1978 was done in support of Chapters 105b (Environmental Impact Assessment) and 105c (Land Use Study) of the National Petroleum Reserve Act of 1976 (PL 94-258). From 1979 through 1981 fieldwork was carried out as part of the U.S. Geological Survey's Arctic Environmental Studies Program, and in 1984 fieldwork was supported by the Survey's Branch of Oil and Gas Resources. Fieldwork in 1982 and 1983 and the production of this report was done as part of the Northern Alaska Engineering Geology Project, for the purpose of providing engineering/surficial geologic information to the Minerals Management Service and the Bureau of Land Management.

Information on the subsurface geology of the Harrison Bay Quadrangle is contained in a number of reports that detail the Geological Survey's investigations in the National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska (Hittelman, 1982). This report concerns only the rocks and sediments visible in surface exposures, which occur in stream, lake, and coastal bluffs.

Acknowledgements

We thank the following scientists of the U.S. Geological Survey for providing analyses and interpretations that were invaluable in the preparation of this report (specialty or type of analysis indicated in parentheses): T. A. Ager (pollen), J. L. Bischoff (uranium-series dating), E. M. Brouwers (marine ostracodes), D. A. Dinter (sedimentary structures), R. M. Forester (freshwater ostracodes), R. E. Hunter (sedimentary structures), Louie

Marincovich, Jr. (marine mollusks), K. A. McDougall (benthic foraminifers), J. R. O'Neil (oxygen isotope analyses), V. L. Pease and J. W. Hillhouse (paleomagnetic analyses), C.A. Repenning (marine and terrestrial vertebrates), and S. W. Robinson (radiocarbon dating). Fossil wood was identified by D. J. Christensen of the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Products Laboratory. Amino acid analyses were performed by G. H. Miller at the Amino Acid Geochronology Laboratory of the Institute of Arctic and Alpine Research, University of Colorado. Thermoluminescence dating was done by Alpha Analytic, Inc., and radiocarbon dating of some samples was carried out by Teledyne Isotopes, Inc.

We thank 0. J. Ferrians, Jr., and W. E. Yeend for critical reviews of the entire report. T. A. Ager, E.M. Brouwers, D. M. Hopkins, Louie Marincovich, Jr., and C. A. Repenning provided comments which helped improve parts of the text. However, in some instances our interpretations differ sharply from one or more of these scientists, and we bear all responsibility for any errors of interpretation that remain, or for any omissions in assigning credit to others for ideas and interpretations.

Depositional History

The Harrison Bay Quadrangle contains sedimentary deposits that range in age from Cretaceous to Holocene and record an interesting geologic history that has been only partly determined. The sediments accumulated in a variety of depositional environments under contrasting climatic regimes, and sediment sources were at various times the Brooks Range, the Canadian Arctic, and an undetermined provenance.

West of the Colville River valley only upper Cenozoic unconsolidated deposits are exposed, except for one locality on the Ublutuoch River where sediments of the Tertiary Sagavanirktok Formation are exposed. In the bluffs on the west side of the Colville River, unconsolidated deposits unconformably overlie the Cretaceous Prince Creek Formation and the Sagavanirktok Formation.

East of the Colville River the Sagavanirktok Formation is exposed beneath unconsolidated deposits in valleys that incise the White Hills section of the Arctic Coastal Plain, and, to the north, in a few cutbanks of the Kachemach and Miluveach Rivers. Elsewhere, only unconsolidated deposits are exposed.

Bedrock

Prince Creek Formation

The oldest deposits exposed in the Harrison Bay quadrangle are nonmarine deltaic beds (Kp) which form part of the type section for the Kogasukruk Tongue of the Prince Creek Formation (Brosgé and Whittington, 1966). These rocks dip less than 5° to the northeast and are exposed in bluffs along the west side of the Colville River from the south margin of the quadrangle north for about 12 km. A fission track age of 50.9 +/- 7.7 Ma was obtained on a tephra from these beds (Carter and others, 1977). However, this age is now questioned owing to the discovery of Hadrosaurian (duck-billed) dinosaur remains stratigraphically above the tephra (Carter, unpublished data, 1984; Davies, in press), because dinosaurs are unknown from post-Cretaceous deposits. Although, as inferred by Gryc (1951), Late Cretaceous seems the most likely age for these deposits, the tephra is being redated to further evaluate the possibility that the dinosaur remains are Tertiary.

Sagavanirktok Formation

The Sagavanirktok Formation includes three formally named members and was defined to include all Tertiary deposits above the Prince Creek Formation and below the Gubik Formation (Detterman and others, 1975). Deposits of the Harrison Bay quadrangle that we assign to the Sagavanirktok Formation are of marine and nonmarine origin. However, we have not assigned these deposits to the formally defined marine and nonmarine members of the Sagavanirktok Formation because the Harrison Bay deposits differ from the formally defined members in terms of age, fauna, gravel-clast rock types, and environments of deposition. Only the youngest of the Harrison Bay deposits is informally named.

Unnamed Marine Deposits

Nearly flat-lying marine strata conformably or disconformably overlie the deltaic deposits of the Prince Creek Formation, and are well exposed in the Colville River bluffs from their contact with the Prince Creek Formation downstream to the end of continuous bluff exposures near Ocean Point.

The age of the marine beds is controversial. MacBeth and Schmidt (1973) first reported marine deposits near Ocean Point and examined the benthic foraminifers in them. They assigned the beds a Campanian age and referred them to the Schrader Bluff Formation, which intertongues with the Prince Creek Formation in other areas. The foraminifers are now thought to be younger (Carter and others, 1977) but have not been studied in detail. Palynological data have been interpreted to indicate a late Cretaceous age (Frederiksen and others, in press). However, marine mollusk and ostracode faunas have been interpreted to indicate a Paleocene to early Eocene (Thanetian to Ypresian) age (Marincovich and others, 1983; Brouwers and others, 1984; Marincovich and others, in press). Palynological data cited below for younger deposits indicate that the marine strata can be no younger than Paleocene. We tentatively accept a Paleocene age and assign these beds to the Sagavanirktok Formation.

The Ocean Point marine beds are important because they contain a unique fauna that suggests unusual environmental conditions and has implications for Arctic Ocean paleogeography and faunal evolution. The mollusk and ostracode faunas are strongly endemic, with only one species in each group known from faunas elsewhere, which suggests nearly complete isolation of the Arctic Ocean during late Cretaceous and early Tertiary time (Marincovich and others, in press). Further, among the genera with well-known stratigraphic ranges in other regions, some are reported only in Cretaceous and older faunas, some only in Paleogene faunas, and others only in Neogene-Quaternary faunas. New taxa may have evolved in an isolated Arctic Ocean and later migrated to the northern midlatitudes.

Unnamed Nonmarine Deposits

Nonmarine deposits (Tsg) which we infer to overlie the marine strata are poorly exposed in the Colville River bluffs at several localities north of Ocean Point. Deposits which we correlate with these beds on the basis of gravel-clast rock types and/or similar pollen assemblages are exposed on the Ublutuoch River west of Nuiqsut, and on the Miluveach and Kachemach Rivers east of the Colville River. The deposits consist of moderately to poorly consolidated conglomerate, sand, gravelly sand, and pebbly shale with thin coal beds and locally common lignitized logs.

Many gravel clasts are composed of rock types which do not occur in nearby parts of the Brooks Range, including schist, augen gneiss or gneissic granite, granitic rocks, greisen, rhyolite, rhyolite tuff, and andesite. Clasts of these rock types as large as 1.2 m in diameter occur along the base of the bluffs containing the exposures, and some clasts have faceted shapes characteristic of glacially transported stones (Wentworth, 1936). The nearest possible source for some of the rock types is the Romanzof Mountains, which are 200 km to the east. Transportation of the exotic clasts to the Harrison Bay area by icebergs is unlikely because the deposits are nonmarine. Older deposits in the Harrison Bay area are not known to contain clasts of these rock types, so redeposition also seems unlikely as an explanation for the origin of the clasts. Determination of the source and path of transport for these clasts will certainly aid in understanding the early Tertiary paleogeography and paleoclimate of the North Slope.

Fungal spores from the deposits indicate a latest Paleocene-earliest Eocene age (J. Lentin, written communication, 1984), whereas pollen assemblages contain taxa characteristic of the lowest preserved Paleocene assemblages of Siberia and northwest Canada (Frederiksen and others, in press). According to T.A. Ager (written communication, 1985), "The pollen assemblages from the deposit contain a rich assemblage of conifer pollen types, along with several types of broadleaf deciduous tree and shrub pollen. Taxa represented include Taxodiaceae (probably <u>Metasequoia</u> and/or <u>Glyptostrobus</u>). Pinaceae (e.g., <u>Picea</u>, <u>Larix</u> type, <u>Pinus</u>), <u>Podocarpus</u>, Ulmaceae, Betulaceae, Ericales, <u>Sphagnum</u>, and several types of fern spores". And, "Reconstruction of Paleocene vegetation and climate is tenuous because of the uncertain taxonomic affinities of some pollen types, and because of the probable unreliability of applying environmental requirements of modern representatives of taxa identified in fossil assemblages of such antiquity. In broad terms, the fossil pollen and spore assemblage suggests conifer forests with a significant deciduous broadleaf component. Understory vegetation probably included <u>Alnus</u> shrubs, ferns, and <u>Sphagnum</u> may have been a significant component of the ground cover. Climate was probably temperate and moist".

At the sites sampled for pollen, exotic rock types were generally present but boulders larger than 50 cm in diameter were not observed. Perhaps the largest boulders, which we believe required glacial ice for long-distance transport, were deposited during relatively brief intervals of severe climate. If glaciation proves to have been contemporaneous with the formation of these deposits, then the sediments may have formed during a relative low stand of the sea or during a period of sea level lowering. Considering the evidence of the pollen and fungal spores, likely times for deposition would have been either the middle Paleocene or early Eocene low stands of sea level and interregional unconformities recognized by Vail and others (1984).

Kuparuk Gravel

The next youngest deposit is pebble, cobble, and boulder gravel (Tg) which has been informally referred to as the Kuparuk gravel (Carter, 1983d). This resistant unit forms bluffs on the upper slopes of valleys cut into the plateau that is part of the White Hills section of the Arctic Coastal Plain.

The age of the Kuparuk gravel is poorly known. It overlies the Paleogene deposits described above and is truncated by a bluff which we infer was formed by coastal erosion during one of the two oldest marine transgressions recorded by deposits of the Gubik Formation. These transgressions occurred during Pliocene time, most likely between 2.4 and 3.5 Ma (Carter and Brigham-Grette, in press and this report). Also, the Kuparuk gravel is older than fluvial terraces which are associated with erratics of the late Tertiary Gunsight Mountain glacial interval described by Hamilton (1979).

Exposures of the Kuparuk gravel are poor and few sedimentary structures have been observed. At one locality, clasts are supported within a clayey sand to silty sand matrix and no clast imbrication is discernable. The deposit at this site is best described as a diamicton. Gravel clasts are composed of resistant rock types common in the nearest parts of the Brooks Range including chert, quartz, quartzite, chert-pebble conglomerate, and siliceous sandstone. Clast size varies widely from place to place, and at some localities clasts as large as 1.5 m in diameter are common. The largest boulder observed was 10 m in diameter. Although no striated surfaces have been observed on these clasts, they are certainly glacial erratics and demonstrate that a Tertiary ice advance from the Brooks Range reached much farther north than previously supposed.

Unconsolidated Deposits

Unconsolidated deposits of marine, fluvial, eolian, colluvial, and lacustrine origin mantle bedrock in the Harrison Bay Quadrangle. The unconsolidated deposits exposed in the bluffs that form the west bank of the Colville River in the Harrison Bay Quadrangle are part of the type section of the Gubik Formation (Gryc and others, 1951). The Gubik Formation was defined by Gryc and others (1951) as including the unconsolidated deposits of the Arctic Coastal Plain that are of Pleistocene age, but Black (1964) broadened the definition to include Holocene deposits, and marine deposits that form part of the type section are now known to be Pliocene (Repenning, 1983). Glaciomarine deposits which were previously referred to as the Flaxman Formation (Leffingwell, 1919) recently have been reduced to member status within the Gubik Formation (Dinter, in press). Thus the Gubik Formation presently includes all unconsolidated deposits of Pliocene and Quaternary age on the Arctic Coastal Plain.

Marine Deposits

Deposits of at least six late Cenozoic marine transgressions occur within the Harrison Bay Quadrangle (table 1). We correlate one of these with the Pelukian transgression (Hopkins, 1967). The other transgressions, which cannot be securely correlated with transgressions defined by Hopkins, were recently named (oldest to youngest) the Colvillian, Bigbendian, Fishcreekian, Wainwrightian, and Simpsonian transgressions by Carter and Brigham-Grette (in press). Deposits of the three oldest transgressions are probably Pliocene and can be differentiated and correlated across the coastal plain by comparing the extent of epimerization of isoleucine (IIe) to alloisoleucine (AIIe) in fossil mollusks (table 1). Deposits of the Pelukian and Simpsonian transgressions are late Pleistocene and have been dated by thermoluminescence (TL). Deposits formed between the Pelukian and

Fishcreekian transgression and dated by TL as older than 158 ka are questionably correlated with the middle Pleistocene Wainwrightian transgression.

Between the Colville and Kuparuk Rivers, late Cenozoic marine fossils have not been found south of the highly degraded bluff that truncates the Kuparuk gravel. The break in slope at the base of this bluff occurs at an altitude of about 60 m and is inferred to mark the maximum altitude reached by late Cenozoic marine transgressions on this part of the coastal plain. Present data indicate that this limit relates to either the Colvillian or Bigbendian transgression, but are inconclusive as to which of these transgressions reached the highest altitude.

Colvillian

Deposits of the Colvillian and Bigbendian transgressions generally form the basal 2 to 5 m of map unit QTas, which coincides with the "landform referred to as Terrace I by Carter and Galloway (1982). Except for one locality on the Miluveach River where the deposits of these two transgressions are superposed and separated by an unconformity, differentiation of the deposits generally requires determination of Alle/Ile values for fossil mollusks. Valves of <u>Hiate11a arctica</u> from Colvillian deposits yield Alle/Ile values of .236 +/- .022, whereas those from Bigbendian deposits give Alle/Ile values of .136 +/- .014.

Colvillian deposits extend to altitudes of at least 40 m and are well exposed in bluffs along the Colville River from the south edge of the Harrison Bay Quadrangle north for about 10 km. They unconformably overlie Cretaceous or lower Tertiary strata throughout the extent of the exposures, and they generally are overlain by unconsolidated fluvial deposits. However, at one locality they are overlain by 1 to 1.5 m of Bigbendian deposits. Along this part of the bluffs, a femur of the North Atlantic harp seal (<u>Pagophilus groenlandica</u>) was found as float (Repenning, 1983), and could have been derived from either Colvillian or Bigbendian deposits. When Repenning's paper was written, the presence of marine deposits of two ages in the Colville River bluffs had not been established by amino acid geochemistry and it was assumed that the harp seal was from beds correlative with the Bigbendian II deposits near Ocean Point.

Cobbles and boulders locally occur at the base of Colvillian deposits. Rock types present include those characteristic of the Kuparuk gravel (Tg) and those which occur in the Paleogene conglomerate (Tsg). The simplest explanation for the occurrence of these clasts at the base of the Colvillian deposits is that they were incorporated by erosion of the Kuparuk gravel and Paleogene conglomerate during the Colvillian transgression. Some boulders derived from the Paleogene conglomerate occur 15 to 20 km southwest of the nearest outcrop of these deposits, perhaps indicating that the boulders were transported shoreward by sea ice.

Mollusks from deposits of the Colvillian transgression form a diverse assemblage that includes the extinct whelk <u>Neptunia Lyrata leffingwelli</u> (L. Marincovich, Jr., written communication, 1984). The fauna includes taxa of Pacific origin and thus post-dates the opening of Bering Strait, which occurred between 3 and 3.5 m.y. ago (Hopkins, 1972; Gladenkov, 1981). The Colvillian transgression may correlate with Hopkins' (1967) Beringian transgression as defined for the type locality at Nome.

Bigbendian

Deposits of the Bigbendian transgression are best exposed in bluffs along the Colville River from near Ocean Point upstream for about 10 km, where they consist of a basal, transgressive, gravelly beach sand about 1 m thick overlain by about 4 m of well-bedded sandy silt. The basal bed contains cobbles and boulders like those described for Colvillian deposits. The maximum altitude at which Bigbendian deposits have been identified is about 35 m.

Pollen spectra from Bigbendian beds indicate that nearby vegetation was probably coniferous forest dominated by spruce and with significant amounts of tree birch and minor pine and fir, somewhat similar to the modern Anchorage area (Nelson, 1981; Nelson and Carter, in press). If this analogy is correct then permafrost was at most discontinuous and limited to north-facing slopes. A relatively mild climate is also suggested by the presence of sea otter (<u>Enhydra</u>?) remains (Repenning, 1983 and written communication, 1985) and by the mollusk fauna, which is richer than the Colvillian fauna and includes the gastropod <u>Littorina squalida</u> (J. Rosewater, written communication to L. Marincovich, Jr., 1984) and the bivalve <u>Clinocardium californiense</u> (Deshayes) (L.

	Tentative Correlation		·	Pelukian	·	·	Anvillian	Beringian
Alle/IIe ¹	Chukchi Sea Coast Area ²	CUAST ALEA	ı	.014 +/002	.038 +/007	.090 +/018	.150 +/025	.235 +/017
	Colville River/ Fish Creek Area	LISH CLEEN ALES	ı	ı	·	.086 +/004 (6) ³	.136 +/014 (12) ³	.236 +/022 (8) ³
		Age	70 Ka to 80 Ka	120 Ka to 130 Ka	> 158 Ka	1.87 Ma to 2.48 Ma	> 2.48 Ma	< 3.5 Ma
Maximum	Elevation		7	10	20	25	> 35, < 60	> 40, < 60
	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	I ransgression	Simpsonian	Pelukian	Wainwrightian?	Fishcreekian	Bigbendian	Colvillian

Quadrangle
n Bay
ne Harrison
of th
arine transgressions o
Ĕ.
Table 1

¹Ratios for the total fraction of <u>Hiatella artica</u>. ²From Brigham, 1985. ³Number of analyses. Marincovich, Jr., personal communication, 1985). The modern northern limit of both mollusk taxa is Bering Strait. Modern sea otters cannot tolerate severe sea ice conditions (Schneider and Faro, 1975), and the presence of sea otter remains suggests that the Beaufort Sea was at best seasonally frozen during the Bigbendian transgression.

Carter and Galloway (1982) proposed that the Bigbendian deposits correlate with Hopkins' (1967) Anvilian transgression, but Repenning (1983) referred them to Hopkins' second Beringian transgression. Both suggestions may be correct inasmuch as D.M. Hopkins (written communication, 1985) now believes that the marine deposits on St. George Island which he proposed formed during a second. Beringian transgression may instead represent the Anvilian transgression. The marine deposits on St. George Island have a minimum age of 2.19 Ma (Hopkins, 1967, fig. 3). Repenning (1983) indicated a possible age of between 1.7 and 2.6 Ma for the marine deposits near Ocean Point based on the stage of evolution exhibited by the fossil sea otter remains. However, he favored an age of between 1.7 and 2.2 Ma because he considered the period 2.2 to 2.6 Ma to be an unlikely time for the transgression based on Shackelton and Opdyke's (1977) conclusion that the first major accumulation of continental ice in the northern hemisphere occurred between about 2.2 and 2.4 Ma. We think it more probable that the Bigbendian transgression preceded this climatic deterioration and occurred between 2.4 and 2.6 Ma.

Fishcreekian

The Fishcreekian transgression is named for fossiliferous deposits exposed along the north side of Fish Creek (Carter and others, 1979) where cut banks expose marine beds beneath the eolian sand of map unit Qe. <u>Hiatella arctica</u> from these sediments yield AIIe/IIe values of .086 +/- .004 (table 1). Other deposits that may be equivalent to the marine beds underlie the fluvial deposits of map unit Qam and occur beneath the eolian deposits of the southern part of map unit Qem.

The Fish Creek locality is particularly important because sedimentary structures and fossil mollusks at this site define the position of relative sea level during a part of this high sea-level event, and several mollusk taxa allow conclusions to be drawn about the paleoenvironment. Further, measurements of magnetic polarity, and marine vertebrate and invertebrate fossils provide constraints on the interpretation of the age of the transgression.

From the base upwards, the deposits at this locality consist of 3 to 4 m of distinctly to indistinctly bedded dark-gray silt (unit 1) containing scattered granules of chert and quartz, sparse sand interbeds and sand-filled burrows, scattered mollusk fragments, and a few thin woody stems. Overlying the silt is 5 to 9 m of fossiliferous, brown to gray sand, pebbly sand, and silt (unit 2) that is predominantly trough cross-bedded but includes evenly bedded zones which are relatively thin and discontinuous. Detrital wood and comminuted organic debris are common. Above this is 6 to 7.5 m of poorly exposed, brown, locally cross-bedded sand to pebbly sand (unit 3) that contains scattered shell fragments. Capping the bluff is 8 m of eolian sand (unit 4). Units 3 and 4 are nonmarine deposits which post-date the Fishcreekian transgression.

On the basis of the lithology, stratigraphy, and faunas of the deposits, Carter and others (1979) proposed that units 1 and 2 were part of a bay-or estuary-mouth system which formed while sea level was about 20 or 22 m above present mean sea level. This altitude is coincident with that at the base of a wave-cut scarp 30 km east of Fish Creek and 5 km west of the Colville River delta, and Carter and others (1979) inferred that the Fish Creek deposits and the wave-cut scarp were part of the same coastal system. The scarp truncates the land-form (Terrace I of Carter and Galloway, 1982) beneath which the deposits of the Colvillian and Bigbendian transgressions occur, and correlation of the scarp and the Fish Creek deposits is in agreement with the sequence of marine transgressions indicated by AIle/IIe measurements on marine mollusks, evidence for minimum sea level positions during the two older transgressions, and superpositional relations along the Chukchi Sea coast (Brigham, 1984).

We continue to support these conclusions but have refined our interpretation of depositional environments. Unit 2 was initially interpreted as a beach deposit, but further studies of the sedimentary structures indicate that the deposits formed in a tidal channel. A strong dominant current is indicated by sets of large-scale cross-strata as thick as 4 m, which have consistent fore-set dips to the north-northeast. A nearly opposed subordinant current is indicated by ripple stratification which climbs up the dip of the fore-set beds, and by sets of medium scale cross-strata which have fore set dips nearly opposed to those of the large scale sets. Detrital organic debris and silt occur as laminae and thin strata which separate sand beds of the fore-sets, and are interpreted as slack water deposits formed at high tide. The north-northeast-setting dominant current suggests that ebb flow was responsible for most sedimentary structures at this locality. Inasmuch as the Beaufort Sea is microtidal now and probably was when these deposits

formed, the bedforms preserved were probably continuously subaqueous during their formation. The ostracode fauna reported in Carter and others (1979), which includes both marine and nonmarine ostracodes, supports the interpretation of unit 2 as forming in a tidal channel.

Ostracodes reported from unit 1 by Carter and others (1979) indicate a nearshore marine or marginal marine environment as would be expected for fine- grained, possibly estuarine sediments associated with tidal channel deposits. More recent collections by E.M. Brouwers (written communication, 1984) contain the fresh water ostracode Cytherissa lacustris (Sars, 1863), which we feel supports this interpretation, but also includes an undescribed and extinct species of Pterygocythereis, a genus which today is not commonly found in the environments inhabited by the other taxa reported from this unit. Rather, modern Pterygocythereis species are confined to the Atlantic Ocean and are most common in middle to outer shelf water depths (E. Brouwers, written communication, 1985). In spite of the presence of <u>Ptervgocythereis</u>, we interpret unit 1 as having formed by rapid sedimentation in a nearshore, shallow water environment on the basis of the other ostracode taxa, and for the following additional reasons: (1) the presence of several species of benthic foraminifers (Elphidium excavatum alba Feyling-Hansen, <u>Elphidium frigidum</u> Cushman, and <u>Elphidium orbicularis</u> Brady), all of which tolerate relatively low salinities and are most common at water depths of less than 10m, and one of which (Elphidium orbicularis) is common off river mouths (K. A. McDougall, personal communication, 1985), (2) an absence of dinoflagellates (T.A. Ager, personal communication, 1985), (3) the paucity of ostracodes (8 valves and 2 fragments from 10 samples) (E. Brouwers, written communication, 1979 and 1984), (4) the absence of whole valves of marine mollusks, (5) the abundance of plant debris, including woody stems, (6) the presence of coarse laminae (sand and granules) that contain woody plant debris and comminuted, thin, very fragile shell fragments (fresh water?), and (7) the presence of freshwater algal types, which in one sample represent about 10% of the pollen and spore sum (T.A. Ager, personal communication, 1985).

Marine mammal remains and several mollusk taxa provide information about the marine environment during the Fishcreekian transgression. In 1978 a femur of <u>Enhydra</u>? was collected by us, and later collections contained a molar of <u>Enhydra</u>? (C.R. Repenning, written communication, 1985). The occurrence of sea otter suggests that during the Fishcreekian transgression the Arctic Ocean was ice-free or only seasonally frozen as it was during the Bigbendian transgression. A warmer sea than today is also indicated by the presence of the bivalve <u>Clinocardium californiense</u>, whose modern northern limit is Norton Sound, and the gastropods <u>Aforia circinata</u>. and <u>Littorina squalida</u> which presently range no farther north than Bering Sea (L. Marincovich, Jr., written communication, 1984). Pollen assemblages from units 1 and 2 and detrital wood from unit 2 provide evidence for terrestrial conditions during deposition of these beds.

Pollen assemblages were analyzed by T.A. Ager (written communication, 1985). Some samples from both units could not be interpreted due to an absence of pollen or extensive reworking of older pollen. Thus it is not possible to reconstruct vegetation conditions for some of the interval represented by the deposits. However, those samples from unit 2 which contained interpretable assemblages are dominated by pollen of herbaceous taxa (sedges, grasses, and composites), but contain pollen of <u>Betula</u> (probably dwarf birch), and Ericaceae (e.g. blueberries), and small amounts of <u>Alnus</u> (alder), <u>Picea</u> (spruce), and <u>Pinus</u> (pine). The last three are interpreted to be present as a result of long-distance transport and/or reworking. Small amounts of <u>Larix</u> (larch) pollen are also present, and wood from this unit has been identified as <u>Larix</u> (D.J. Christensen, written communication, 1985), indicating that larch was present nearby. Accordingly, we interpret the vegetation to have been shrub-herb tundra with scattered larch trees or a larch taiga similar to the modern vegetation of parts of northeastern Siberia.

Those samples from unit 1 which contain interpretable pollen assemblages have assemblages similar to those of unit 2, except for higher amounts of <u>Betula</u> pollen and generally higher amounts of <u>Picea</u> and <u>Pinus</u> pollen. In two samples, pollen from spruce and pine together make up from 17% to 20% of the total pollen and spores, whereas in samples from unit 2 they compose from 2.5% to 8% of the total. This suggests that either spruce and pine were growing closer to the site during the deposition of unit 1, or that regional wind conditions were different, or both (T.A. Ager, personal communication, 1985).

The difference in pollen assemblages between the two units suggests the possibility that they are of different ages. However, we think it most probable that both units formed during the same transgression, and that during this transgression there were minor changes in climate and vegetation. We draw this conclusion because of paleomagnetic data presented below, and because 3 km upstream on Fish Creek, marine mud exposed at the same altitude as unit 1 contain paired valves of <u>Hiatella arctica</u> (L. Marincovich, written communication, 1979) which yield the same amino acid ratios-as those for <u>H. arctica</u> from the tidal channel deposits (unit 2) which overlie unit 1.

The pollen assemblages from the tidal channel deposits (unit 2) are similar to those from the late Pliocene or early Pleistocene Cape Deceit Formation (Gitterman and others, 1982), and suggest a severe terrestrial climate. This is in marked contrast to the conditions indicated for the marine realm. A relatively warm ocean adjacent to a cold land provides conditions favorable for the build-up of ice sheets (Ruddiman and McIntyre, 1979), and it is possible that the Fishcreekian transgression, even though it occurred during an interglacial interval, was coincident with glaciation in the Brooks Range and in the Canadian Arctic. Hamilton (1981) proposed that a northern moisture source nourished glaciers in the Brooks Range during the Gunsight Mountain glacial interval, and perhaps this ice advance was coincident with or closely related in time to the Fishcreekian transgression. The informally named Tuapaktushak beds exposed along the Chukchi Sea coast (Brigham, 1984) and correlated by amino acid geochemistry with the Fish Creek deposits (Carter and Brigham-Grette, in press) contain dropstones and exhibit deformational structures and striated boulder pavements that D.M. Hopkins (personal communication, 1984) believes could have been produced by stranded icebergs.

Paleomagnetic analyses were made on 20 samples from units 1 and 2 at Fish Creek. Five of the determinations are considered unreliable because of unreasonable declinations. The remaining samples were directionally stable and indicate reversed polarity (V.Pease, written communication, 1985). The fact that both units 1 and 2 possess reversed polarity supports the conclusion that both units formed during the same transgression. Paleomagnetic analyses also were attempted for deposits of the Colvillian and Bigbendian transgressions but polarity could not be determined.

Consideration of the sequence of marine transgressions, the paleomagnetic evidence, the palynological data, and the marine fauna leads to the conclusion that the Fishcreekian transgression occurred between 1.87 and 2.48 Ma. The Fishcreekian transgression is younger than the Bigbendian transgression, which, if Repenning (1983) is correct, occurred no more than 2.6 Ma. Because the Fish Creek deposits have reversed magnetic polarity, they must have formed during the Matuyama Superchron and they can be no older than 2.48 Ma. The pollen data support this conclusion, when considered in the light of data from elsewhere. For example, Zagwijn (1974) has shown that there was a dramatic change in vegetational type in the Netherlands as a result of climatic cooling near the Gauss-Matuyama boundary. At about the same time (2.5 Ma), Shackelton and others (1984) report a brief ice rafting episode in the North Atlantic which was followed by a major glacial event about 2.37 Ma. This sequence of climatic deterioration is similar to that inferred from Pacific Ocean deep sea cores (Shackelton and Opdyke, 1977), the terrestrial record on New Zealand (Stipp and others, 1967), and data from the Gulf of Mexico (Beard and others, 1982). Climatic cooling at this time appears to have been world-wide, and we think it unlikely that tundra or larch taiga vegetation would have been present during an interglacial interval on the Arctic Coastal Plain prior to the start of this cooling event.

The Enhydra? molar recovered from the Fish Creek tidal channel deposits exhibits a stage of evolution comparable to the Enhydra? from Ocean Point (C.A. Repenning, personal communication, 1985) and therefore is most likely no younger than 1.7 Ma (Repenning, 1983). This conclusion is supported by the mollusk fauna, which has a boreal aspect and is more similar in this respect to the fauna of the Tjornes beds of Iceland than to that of the lower Breidavik beds which overlie them. The lower Breidavik beds contain mollusk faunas of a more arctic aspect and are interbedded with tillites. According to Gladenkov (1981, Table 2) the base of the Breidavik beds occurs just above the Olduvai Chron (referred to by him as the Gilsa event) and the top of the Tjornes deposits is about 2 Ma. Thus both the mollusks and the marine vertebrate fauna suggest that the Fishcreekian transgression occurred prior to the Olduvai Chron, which began about 1.87 Ma.

We think it most probable that this high sea level event corresponds to one of the O¹⁸ minima recorded in deep sea cores. In the North Atlantic Ocean, significant O¹⁸ minima within the Matuyama Superchron and prior to the Olduvai Chron occurred at about 2.15, 2.25, and 2.41 Ma (Shackleton and others, 1984). The oldest of these post-dates the first evidence of climatic cooling and immediately predates the first major glacial episode, and we tentatively correlate the Fishcreekian transgression with this O¹⁸ minimum.

Wainwrightian?

Glaciomarine deposits similar to the Flaxman Member of the Gubik Formation, which is described below, have been dated by TL as older than 158 ka. These deposits occur beneath eolian sand in the northern part of map unit Qem. They most likely represent a Simpsonian-type transgression that occurred before the Pelukian

transgression (Carter, 1983d). However, they may be an offshore facies formed during the Wainwrightian transgression (Carter and Brigham-Grette, in press)

Pelukian

The Pelukian transgression was defined by Hopkins (1967) as occurring during the last interglacial interval and producing shoreline features and deposits a few meters above present sea level that can be traced discontinuously around the coast of western and northern Alaska. Beach deposits of last interglacial age in the Harrison Bay Quadrangle are exposed in bluffs along the north shore of Teshekpuk Lake and can be traced eastward to Harrison Bay and northwestward to near Barrow. These deposits occur at altitudes that range from 1 m at their base to perhaps as much as 10 m at their top. In the Harrison Bay Quadrangle, these deposits occur along the north edge of map unit Qs, where they overlie marine mud and are disconformably overlain by lacustrine or deltaic deposits and by eolian sand. Spruce driftwood is common locally in the deposits and the foraminifera and ostracode faunas indicate more open water and warmer climatic conditions than presently prevail (Hopkins and others, 1981). Amino acid ratios determined for the bivalve Hiatella arctica are barely distinguishable from those determined for modern specimens (Brigham, 1983), and preclude an age greater than the last interglacial episode. Oxygen isotope analyses of the bivalve Astarte borealis show that their O¹⁸ content is about the same as that of modern <u>A</u>. borealis shells (J.R. O'Neil, written communication, 1984), suggesting a correlation with oxygen isotope stage 5e. This correlation is supported by seven TL dates on the beach deposits and underlying muds that range from 108.5 ka to 140 ka and average 123.5 ka. The altitude of beach deposits formed during the Pelukian transgression is about the same as that estimated for the eustatic high-stand during isotope stage 5e based on evidence from oceanic islands and other continental shelves (Cronin and others, 1981), and suggests that this part of the western Arctic Coastal Plain has been tectonically stable for the past 125,000 years. The Pelukian transgression can be confidently correlated with the informally named Walakpa beds of the Chukchi Sea coast (Brigham, 1983).

Simpsonian

The Simpsonian transgression is defined as the transgression during which the Flaxman Member of the Gubik Formation was deposited. The Flaxman Member occurs locally along the Beaufort Sea coast to altitudes of about 7 m. In the Harrison Bay Quadrangle these deposits form the upper part of map unit Qm. They consist of a few meters of glaciomarine erratic-bearing silt, clayey silt, and silty sand, and they are overlain locally by regressive sand, beach, deltaic, or fluvial deposits. The erratic stones are of Canadian provenance and rock types include dolomite, diabase, pyroxenite, granite, and quartzite (McCarthy, 1958). Erratics occur to within a few hundred meters of the southern limit of the deposit, and so were being supplied at the peak of the transgression (Hopkins, 1982). Their transport to the Beaufort Sea coast by icebergs records the breakup of an ice sheet in the Canadian Arctic. Remains of Pacific marine mammals, including ribbon seal (Histriophoca fasciata) and gray whale (Eschrichtius sp.) (Repenning, 1983), indicate that a connection with the Bering Sea existed at this time. Mollusk, ostracode, and foraminifera faunas are depauperate and include no extralimital species (Hopkins and others, 1981). The Simpsonian transgression was a brief event of a distinctly different character than the interglacial transgressions discussed above.

Eleven TL dates on sediment of the Flaxman Member range from 53 ka to 81 ka. Six of these are between 71 and 76 ka and a uranium-series date on whale bone from Simpsonian deposits is 75 ka (J.L. Bischoff, written communication, 1984). Finite radiocarbon dates previously obtained for organic remains from Simpsonian deposits (Carter, 1983d) are apparently erroneous, and the Simpsonian transgression most probably occurred between 70 ka and 80 ka.

Because the western part of the Arctic Coastal Plain has been tectonically stable for at least the past 125 ka, the altitude of the Simpsonian deposits cannot be attributed to tectonism. Furthermore, marine deposits exposed near sea level on the Atlantic Coastal Plain were deposited about 75 ka (Cronin and others, 1981; Cronin and others, 1984), suggesting that the Simpsonian transgression was not a local event but represents a eustatic sea level higher than that of today. However, marine mollusk shells from Simpsonian deposits are enriched in O¹⁸ relative to modern specimens from the Beaufort Sea, indicating that more glacial ice was present during the Simpsonian transgression than occurs today. Oxygen isotope data from deep sea cores for this time interval also indicate large volumes of glacial ice.

Cronin and others (1984) proposed that the paradox of high sea level 75 ka co-occurring with extensive glacial ice could be explained by large volumes of floating glacial ice in polar regions. The Flaxman Member does indeed document that floating glacial ice was present in the Arctic Ocean, but the discrepancy between the sea level and isotope records is so large that an extraordinary amount of floating glacial ice would be required to reconcile them. Possible mechanisms to provide an enormous amount of floating glacial ice would be a surge of the East Antarctic ice sheet or disintegrations of the west Antarctic ice sheet. Either of these would cause a rapid rise in sea level (Wilson, 1964; Mercer, 1978; Hollin, 1982) and might lead to the catastrophic breakup of unstable marinebased ice over the central Canadian Shield (Denton and Hughes, 1983). Recent studies of amino acid geochemistry of marine mollusk shells in the Hudson Bay region do indeed indicate that the Hudson Bay Lowlands were evacuated of Laurentide ice and inundated by marine waters about 75 ka (Andrews and others, 1983).

Fluvial and Deltaic Deposits

Fluvial deposits consist of Pliocene gravelly sand (Tgs) which underlies the deposits of map unit QTas east of the Itkillik River, Pliocene and Pleistocene sand and gravelly sand which overlies the marine deposits of map units QTas and Qam, Pleistocene sand and gravelly sand which composes the alluvial terrace deposits of map unit Qat, and Holocene and latest Pleistocene sandy alluvium of map unit Qa1.

The oldest deposits (Tgs) are very poorly exposed and they have yielded no fossil plants or animals. The fluvial deposits of map units QTas and Qam form broad alluvial plains which are not related to modern river valleys. Pollen studies show that some of the deposits formed during glacial intervals (Nelson, 1981), and spruce, larch, and poplar macrofossils indicate that other deposits formed during interglacial episodes (Carter and Galloway, 1982; Carter, unpublished data). These deposits contain a rich paleoenvironmental record and detailed sampling of key localities should be carried out.

Fluvial terrace deposits are confined to modern river valleys but probably are stratigraphically complex and formed over a long period of Pleistocene time. The oldest of these deposits underlie ancient flood plains of the Miluveach and Kachemach Rivers which are graded to the base of a scarp that trends perpendicular to the two rivers (Carter and Galloway, 1982). The scarp may be of fluvial or marine origin. If it is of marine origin it probably formed during the Fish Creek transgression.

Younger Pleistocene fluvial terrace deposits occur on both sides of the Colville and Itkillik Rivers. These deposits underlie several terrace surfaces and their ages are undetermined. Fossil spruce logs have been collected at several localities (Carter and Galloway, 1982), suggesting that the deposits formed during interglacial intervals.

Holocene and latest Pleistocene alluvium forms flood plains and low terraces along modern streams of the Harrison Bay quadrangle. These young deposits have not been studied in detail, but radiocarbon dating of correlative deposits in adjacent quadrangles indicate that the terraces formed between 8 ka and 14 ka, which suggests that the streams in the Harrison Bay Quadrangle were not deeply entrenched during late Wisconsin low stands of sea level.

Extensive deltas (Qd) of silt and sand have formed at the mouths of the Colville River and Fish Creek since sea level reached its present position during middle or late Holocene time. The thickness of these deposits has not been determined, but they may not be thicker than 15 m, which is the approximate depth of the thalweg of the main distributary of the Colville River delta. Extensive studies of the geomorphology of the Colville River delta and processes of erosion and deposition there have been carried out by Walker (1983).

Eolian Deposits

Eolian deposits consist of a blanket of silt and very fine sand in the southeastern part of the quadrangle that is referred to here as upland sand and silt (Qus), and of eolian sand that forms stabilized dunes, sand sheets, and fossil sand wedges elsewhere.

The upland sand and silt is very poorly exposed and has been examined only in reconnaissance fashion. It overlies the Kuparuk gravel and forms the surface deposits of the plateau that makes up this part of the White Hills section of the Arctic Coastal Plain. The deposits accumulated over a long period of time and the most recent episode of deposition was most likely during either the late Wisconsin or early Holocene intervals of eolian sediment

transport documented for other parts of the coastal plain (Carter, 1983a). The sediments have been reworked in many places by lacustrine, fluvial, and colluvial processes, and form the matrix for the deposits mapped as colluvium within the area of the plateau. These colluvial deposits contain the bones of extinct Pleistocene mammals such as horse and bison.

Eolian sand deposits in the remainder of the quadrangle formed during several intervals of eolian sediment transport which occurred in contrasting climatic regimes during Pleistocene and Holocene time. Stabilized linear dunes as much as 20 km long, 1 km wide, and 30 m high form the major part of the eolian sand of map unit Qe. These large dunes form the northeastern part of a sand sea that covered more than 11,000 km² of the Arctic Coastal Plain (Carter, 1981, 1983a). The time of initiation of the dune field has not been determined, but radiocarbon ages of herbaceous plants from eolian and lacustrine sand within the dune field indicate that the dunes were active from before 36,000 to nearly 12,000 yr B.P. Bedding attitudes, dune-ridge orientations, and measurements of pseudo-crosslamination formed by climbing adhesion ripples demonstrate a wind regime similar to that of the present and indicate that the dominant directions of sand-moving winds were easterly to northeasterly. Stratification types within the dunes indicate deposition under predominantly dry conditions. Few interdunal pond deposits have been identified, suggesting that rainfall and snowmelt were insufficient to regularly inundate interdunal depressions. Buried snow or ice has not been observed in the dune sand, and deformational structures that could be attributed to the melting of snow or ice are rare. Snow cover over the dunes is inferred to have been patchy at most.

In spite of this evidence for aridity on the Arctic Coastal Plain, radiocarbon dating of fossil bones indicates that before 28 ka vegetation in the Arctic Foothills was sufficient to support such large herbivores as mammoth, horse, and bison. However, none of the dates on these mammals is less than 28 ka, and few organic remains have been found in deposits between 14,500 and 28,000 years old in contrast to both older and younger deposits. Cold, arid conditions evidently intensified during late Wisconsin time-coincident with the expansion of glaciers in the Brooks Range.

In support of this conclusion, TL dating of fossil sand wedges which are as much as 7 m deep and 3 m wide and extend upwind of the dunes for more than 100 km shows that they formed during late Wisconsin time (Carter, 1983c and unpublished data). Sand wedges are forming today in the drier parts of Victoria Land, Antarctica (Pewe, 1959; Black and Berg, 1963; Berg and Black, 1966), in some parts of the Sverdrup Islands of arctic Canada (Hodgson, 1982),and in northern Greenland (C. Hjort, written communication, 1983). They form in a manner analogous to ice wedges, which commonly underlie the borders of nonsorted polygons in tundra covered arctic areas. Both sand and ice wedges grow as a result of repeated formation and filling of thermal-contraction cracks in permafrost; ice wedges form when the cracks fill with snow, hoarfrost or meltwater (Leffingwell, 1915; Lachenbruch, 1962), whereas sand wedges form when the cracks fill with sand that trickles down from the surface. Sand wedges developed on the Arctic Coastal Plain as wind-driven sand moving across the coastal plain toward the dunes dropped into open thermal-contraction cracks. The sand wedges record barren ground and document an absence of surface water from the time the thermal contraction cracks formed in middle and late winter until they filled with eolian sand. This suggests that significant sand movement occurred before spring and that snow cover was patchy or absent as inferred for the dunes.

About 12 ka the dunes were stabilized and the development of organic soils began across the coastal plain (Carter, 1983c). In conjunction with soil development, ice wedge growth was initiated locally on the previously barren plains north and east of the dunes. About 11 ka a new phase of eolian sand movement was initiated that resulted in the formation of a sheet of eolian sand from 1 to 7 m thick that blanketed the dunes and extended beyond them tithe north. This sand-sheet forms the upper part of map units Qe and Qem. Climatic conditions during this episode of eolian sand movement were warmer and drier than those of today (Carter and others, 1984). Eolian sand movement ceased about 8 ka when the development of organic soils stabilized the sand surface.

Small parabolic and longitudinal dunes up to 1 km long and a few meters thick developed over the area of the sand sheet during late Holocene time. This episode of eolian sand movement was probably coincident with the neoglacial expansion of glaciers in the Brooks Range. If so, then destabilization of the sand surface was probably initiated by cooler and drier climatic conditions than those of today.

Thaw-Lake Deposits

Thaw lakes began developing about 12 ka following the climatic amelioration that terminated late Wisconsin glaciation (Lewellen, 1972b; Sellmann and others, 1975; Brown and others, 1980; Carter, unpublished data). Since stabilization of the eolian sand sheet about 8 ka, the thaw lake cycle has perhaps been the dominant form of landscape modification away from rivers and streams. The cyclic development, orientation, and origin of thaw lakes has been extensively studied in the Barrow area (Black and Barksdale, 1949; Britton, 1957; Brewer, 1958a; Livingstone and others, 1958; Carson and Hussey, 1960, 1962, 1963; Brown, 1965; Hussey and Michelson, 1966; Carson, 1968; Black, 1969, 1976; Morrissey, 1979). Sellmann and others (1975) subdivided the coastal plain into areas containing thaw lakes of similar size, shape, and development of orientation. Their map unit boundaries approximate the boundaries of the lithologically defined map units for the Harrison Bay Quadrangle.

The thaw-lake cycle begins when ponding occurs at the surface. This can occur as a result of the disruption of insulating vegetation and consequent melting of ground ice followed by surface subsidence to create a small basin. The pond may deepen and expand laterally by thaw of subjacent and adjacent ice-rich permafrost, and as a result of wind-induced erosion by waves and currents. Wind-induced erosion produces the lake elongation that is so distinctive on the Arctic Coastal Plain (Carson and Hussey, 1962). The prevailing east-northeast and west-southwest winds create waves and currents which build protective shelves on the downwind shores and concentrate erosion on the north-northwest and south-southeast shores. Lake-basin depth is determined by the ice content of the underlying materials and their potential for thaw settlement. Lake expansion may continue until a lower lake basin or stream is intercepted and the lake drains. Following drainage, the lake bed is refrozen to form new ice-rich permafrost and ice wedges begin to grow. During refreezing, pingos (ice-cored conical hills) commonly develop in lake basins which are underlain by thick granular materials (Galloway and Carter, 1978; Carter and Galloway, 1979). After refreezing, a new thaw lake cycle may begin. The parts of the landscape that occur between thaw-lake basins and that either have not been affected by the thaw-lake cycle or have not been affected for several thousand years have a much higher ice content than recently drained lake beds or the beds of existing lakes.

The character of thaw-lake deposits depends upon the character of the materials in which the thaw-lake basin develops. However, as explained in the description of map units, thaw lake deposits generally have a higher organic content than adjacent sediments, owing to the incorporation of eroded tundra vegetation.

Colluvial Deposits

Colluvial deposits are of minor extent in the Harrison Bay Quadrangle. They are poorly exposed and the history of deposition has not been adequately determined. Some of the deposits are relict and contain the remains of extinct Pleistocene mammals. These deposits commonly underlie paired terraces in tributaries to main valleys in the southeast corner of the quadrangle. They contain abundant organic debris and may date to the warm period that occurred from 12 ka to 8 ka (Carter and others, 1984). If so, then the mammal bones were most likely incorporated in the deposits by colluvial processes.

Sources of Information

The following list of references includes those cited in the text and in addition contains references concerning topics such as climate, permafrost, pingos, ground ice, soil development, vegetation, coastal and nearshore marine processes, floods and storm surges, economic geology, and water resources, all of which are pertinent to land management considerations.

- Aitken, G.W., 1965, Ground temperature observations. Barrow, Alaska: U.S. Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory Technical Report 105, 15 p.
- Albert, N.R.D., 1978, Landsat mosaics of eastern North Slope petroleum province, Alaska, with preliminary interpretation of observed features: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Field Studies Map MF-928V, 3 sheets, scale 1:500,000.
- Alpha, T.R., and Gerin, Marybeth, 1980, Oblique map of the Beaufort Sea and the Brooks Range of Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 80-455, 1 sheet.

- Andrews, J.T., Shilts, W.W., and Miller, G.H., 1983, Multiple deglaciations of the Hudson Bay Lowlands, Canada, since deposition of the Missinaibi (last-Interglacial?) Formation: Quaternary Research, v. 19, no. 1, p. 18-37.
- Arctic Institute of North America, 1974, The Alaskan Arctic coast, a background study of available knowledge: prepared for Department of the Army, Corps of Engineers, Alaska District, contract DACW-85-74-C-0020, 551 p.
- Arnborg, Lennart, Walter, H.J., and Peippo, Johan, 1966, water discharge in the Colville River, 1962: Geografiska Annaler, v. 48A, no. 4, p. 195-210.
- Arnborg, Lennart, Walter, H.J., and Peippo, Johan, 1967, Suspended load in the Colville River, Alaska, 1962: Geografiska Annaler, v. 49A, no. 2-4, p. 133-144.
- Arnold, C.A., 1959, Some paleobotanical aspects of tundra development: Ecology, v. 40, no. 1, p. 146-148.
- Barnes, D.F., 1977, Bouguer gravity map of northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-166A, 1 sheet, scale 1:1,000,000.
- Barnes, F.F., 1967a, Coal resources of Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 1242-B, p. B1-B36.
- Barnes, F.F., 1967b, Coal resources of the Cape Lisburne-Colville River regions, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 1242-E, p. E1-E37.
- Barnes, Peter, and Garlow, R., 1975, Surface current observations Beaufort Sea, 1972: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 75-619, 7 p.
- Barnes, Peter, Leong, Kam, and Gustafson, C., 1974, Map showing distribution of copper, lead, zinc, mercury, and arsenic in the sediments off the coast of northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Field Studies Map MF-614, 1 sheet, scale 1:3,375,000.
- Barnes, Peter, McDowell, David, and Reimnitz, Erk, 1978, Ice gouging characteristics: their changing patterns from 1975-1977, Beaufort Sea, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 78-730, 42 p.
- Barnes, P.M., and Reimnitz, Erk, 1976, Sediment-ice interaction in the Beaufort Sea, <u>in</u> Cobb, E. H., ed., The United State Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1975: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 773, p. 17-21.
- Barnes, P.M., Reimnitz, Erk, Drake, D.E., and Toimil, L.J., 1977, Miscellaneous, hydrologic and geologic observations on the inner Beaufort Sea shelf, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-477, 95 p.
- Barnes, P.M., Reimnitz, Erk, Gustafson, C.W., and Larsen, B.R., 1973, U.S. Geological Survey marine geologic studies in the Beaufort Sea, 1970 through 1972; data type and location: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 561, 38 p.
- Barnes, P.M., Reimnitz, Erk, Kempema, Edward, Minkler, Peter, and Ross, Robin, 1980, U.S.G.S. marine geologic studies in the Beaufort Sea, Alaska, 1979; data type, location, and records obtained: U.S. Geological Survey Open- File Report 80-603, 4 p. (unnumbered), 3 plates.
- Barnes, P.W., Reimnitz, Erk, and Ross, Robin, 1980, Nearshore surficial sediment textures Beaufort Sea, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 80-6196, 41 p.
- Barnes, P.W., Reimnitz, Erk, Toimil, Larry, Maurer, Douglas, and McDowell, David, 1979, Core descriptions and preliminary observations of vibracores from the Alaska Beaufort Sea shelf: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 79-351, 12 p., 3 figures, unpaged appendix (91 sheets).
- Batzil, G.O., and Brown, Jerry, 1976, RATE the influence of grazing on arctic tundra ecosystems: Arctic Bulletin, Interagency Arctic Research Coordinating Committee, v. 2, p. 153-160.
- Beard, J.H., Sangree, J.B., and Smith, L.A., 1982, Quaternary chronology, paleoclimate, depositional sequences, and eustatic cycles; American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, v. 66, no. 2, p. 158-169.
- Beikman, H.M., and Lathram, E.H., 1976, Preliminary geologic, map of northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Field Studies Map MF-789, 2 sheets, scale 1:1,000,000.
- Benson, C.S., 1969, The seasonal snow cover of arctic Alaska: Arctic Institute of North America Research Paper 51, 85 p.
- Benson, C.S., 1982, Reassessment of winter precipitation on Alaska's Arctic Slope and measurements on the flux of windblown snow: Geophysical Institute, University of Alaska Report UAG R-288, 26 p.
- Berg, R.L., 1984, Status of numerical models for heat and mass transfer in frost-susceptible soils: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 67-72
- Berg, T.E., and Black, R.F., 1966, Preliminary measurements of growth of non- sorted polygons, Victoria Land, Antarctica, in Tedrow, J.F.C., ed., Antarctic soils and soil-forming processes: American Geophysical Union Antarctic Research Series, v. 8, p. 61-108.
- Bergquist, H. R., 1966, Micropaleontology of the Mesozoic rocks of northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 302-D, p. 93-227.
- Bird, K.J., 1981a, Petroleum exploration of the North Slope in Alaska, U.S.A.: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 81-227, 43 p.
- Bird, K.J., 1981b, Machine-generated displays of well logs and lithology from selected wells on the North Slope of Alaska: 11 wells from the northeastern part of the National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska (NPRA): U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 81-1034, 6 p., 11 sheets.

- Bird, K.J., 1982, Rock-unit reports of 228 wells drilled on the North Slope, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 82-278, 106 p.
- Bird, K.J., 1983, Oil and gas resources of the North Slope, Alaska (abs): U.S. Geological Survey Circular 911, p. 27-30.
- Bird, K.J., Connor, C.L., Tailleur, I.L., Silberman, M.L., and Christie, J.L., 1978, Granite on the Barrow arch, northeast NPRA, <u>in</u> Johnson, K.M., ed., The United State Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1977: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 772-B, p. B24-25.
- Black, R.F., 1951, Eolian deposits of Alaska: Arctic, v. 4, no. 2, p. 89-111.
- Black, R.F., 1952, Growth of ice-wedge polygons in permafrost near Barrow, Alaska (abs): Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 63, no. 12, p. 1235-1236.
- Black, R.F., 1954a. Precipitation at Barrow, Alaska, greater than recorded: American Geophysical Union Transactions, v. 35, no. 2, p. 203-207.
- Black, R.F., 1954b. Permafrost a review: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 65, no. 9, p. 839-856.
- Black, R.F., 1957, Some problems in engineering geology caused by permafrost in the Arctic Coastal Plain, northern Alaska: Arctic, v. 10, no. 4, p. 230-240.
- Black, R.F., 1963, Les coins de glace et le gel permanent dans le Nord de l'Alaska (Ice wedges and permafrost in northern Alaska): Annales de Geographie, v. 72, p. 257-271.
- Black, R.F., 1964, Gubik Formation of Quaternary age in northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 302-C, p. 59-91.
- Black, R.F., 1969, Thaw depression and thaw lakes, a review: Biuletyn Peryglacjalny, v. 18, p. 131-150.
- Black, R.F., 1974, Ice-wedge polygons of northern Alaska, in Coates, D. R., ed., Glacial geomorphology: Annual Geomorphology series, 1974, 5th, Proceedings: Binghamton, New York, State University of New York, p. 247-275.
- Black, R.F., 1976, Periglacial features indicative of permafrost: Ice and soil wedges: Quaternary Research, v. 6, no. 1, p. 3-26.
- Black, R.F., 1983a, Ice-wedge diapirs, northern Alaska, are produced mainly by horizontal compression (abs.): Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 15, no. 6, p. 527.
- Black, R.F., 1983b, Three superposed systems of ice wedges at McLeod Point, northern Alaska, may span most of the Wisconsinan stage and Holocene: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 68-73.
- Black, R.F., and Barksdale, W.L., 1949, Oriented lakes of northern Alaska: Journal of Geology, v. 57, no. 2, p. 105-118.
- Black, R.F., and Berg, T.E., 1963, Hydrothermal regimen of patterned ground, Victoria Land, Antarctica: International Association of Scientific Hydrology, Commission of Snow and Ice, Publication no. 61, p. 121-127.
- Boucher, Gary, 1976, Study of the gravity field of the Beaufort shelf, north coast of Alaska, <u>in</u> Cobb, E. H., ed., The United State Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1975: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 773, p. 21-23.
- Bowsher, A.L., Tailleur, I.L., and Gibson, H.A., 1981, Availability of petrographic thin-sections from thirty-five wells from National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska, North Slope, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 81-1307. 8 p.
- Boyd, W.L., 1959, Limnology of selected arctic lakes in relation to water- supply problems: Ecology, v. 40, no. 1, p. 49-54.
- Brewer, M.C., 1958a, The thermal regime of an arctic lake: American Geophysical Union Transactions, v. 39, p. 278-284.
- Brewer, M.C., 1958b, Some results of geothermal investigations of permafrost in northern Alaska: American Geophysical Union Transactions, v. 39, p. 19-26.
- Brewer, M.C., 1984, Petroleum exploration and protection of the environment on the National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 133-134.
- Briggs, S.R., 1983, Geology report for proposed Beaufort Sea OCS sand and gravel lease sale: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 83-606, 66 p.
- Brigham, J.K., 1981, Amino-acid geochronology of Late Pliocene and Pleistocene marine transgressions on the Arctic Coastal Plain, northern Alaska: Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 12, no. 7, p. 417.
- Brigham, J.K., 1983, Correlation of late Cenozoic marine transgressions of the Arctic Coastal Plain with those in western Alaska and Northeastern Russia (abs.): U.S. Geological Survey Circular 911, p. 47-52.
- Brigham, J.K., 1984, Marine stratigraphy and amino acid geochronology of the Gubik Formation, western Arctic Coastal Plain, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 934, p. 5-9.
- Brigham, J.K., 1985, Marine stratigraphy and amino acid geochronology of the Gubik Formation, western Arctic Coastal Plain, Alaska: Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Colorado, 316 p.
- Brigham, J.K., Hopkins, D.M., Carter. L.D., and Miller, G.H., 1980, Application of amino-acid geochronology to deposits of the Arctic Coastal Plain, Alaska; preliminary results and implications: Ninth Annual Arctic Workshop, April 4 and 5, 1980, Institute of Arctic and Alpine Research, University of Colorado, Boulder, p. 34-35.
- Brigham, J.K., and Miller, G.H., 1982, Late Cenozoic history of high sea level stands and Pleistocene temperature estimates, northwestern Alaska: Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 14, no. 7, p. 451.

- Brigham, J.K., 1983, Paleotemperature estimates of the Alaskan Arctic Coastal Plain during the last 1,250,000 years: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 80-85.
- Britton, M.E., 1957. Vegetation of the Arctic tundra, <u>in</u> Hansen, H. P., ed., Arctic Biology: Corvallis, Oregon State University, p. 67-130.
- Brosgé, W.P., and Tailleur, I.L., 1969, Isopach maps of upper Paleozoic and Mesozoic rocks, northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 364, 10 p.
- Brosgé, W.P., and Whittington, C.L., 1966, Geology of the Umiat-Maybe Creek Region, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 303-H, p. 501-638.
- Brouwers. E.M., Marincovich, Louie, Jr., and Hopkins, D.M., 1984, Paleoenvironmental record of Pleistocene transgressive events preserved at Skull Cliff, northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 934, p. 9-12.
- Brown, Jerry, 1965, Radiocarbon dating. Barrow, Alaska: Arctic, v. 18, no. 1, p. 36-48.
- Brown, Jerry, 1966, Ice-wedge chemistry and related frozen-ground processes, Barrow, Alaska: International Conference on Permafrost, Proceedings, National Academy of Sciences-National Research Council Publication 1287, p. 94-98.
- Brown, Jerry, 1967, Tundra soils formed over ice wedges, northern Alaska: Soil Science Society of America, Proceedings, v. 31, p. 686-691.
- Brown, Jerry, 1969a, Buried soils associated with permafrost: Symposium on Pedology and Quaternary Research, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada
- Brown, Jerry, 1969b, Soil properties developed on the complex tundra relief of northern Alaska: Biuletyn Peryglacjalny, no. 18, p. 153-167.
- Brown, Jerry, 1969c, Ionic concentration gradients in permafrost. Barrow, Alaska: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory, Research Report 272, 24 p.
- Brown, Jerry, 1972, Buried soils associated with permafrost: Pedology and Quaternary Research Symposium Proceedings, Edmonton, Alberta, May 13-14.
- Brown, Jerry, Dingman, S.L., and Lewellen, R.I., 1968, Hydrology of a drainage basin on the Alaskan Coastal Plain: U.S. Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory, Research Report 240, 18 p.
- Brown, Jerry, Everett, K.R., Webber, P.J., MacLean, S.F., and Murray, U.F., 1980, The coastal tundra at Barrow, <u>in</u> Brown, Jerry, and others, eds., An arctic ecosystem, the coastal tundra at Barrow, Alaska: Stroudsburg, Pennsylvania, Dowden, Hutchinson, and Ross, p. 1-29.
- Brown, Jerry, and Johnson, P.L., 1965, Pedo-ecological investigations, Barrow, Alaska: U.S. Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory, Technical Report 159, 32 p.
- Brown, Jerry, and Johnson, P.L., 1966, U.S. Army CRREL topographic map, Barrow, Alaska (1:25,000): U.S. Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory, Special Report 101.
- Brown, Jerry, and Sellmann, P.V., 1966, Radiocarbon dating of coastal peat, Barrow, Alaska: Science, v. 153, no. 3733, p. 299-300.
- Brown, Jerry, and Sellmann, P.V., 1973, Permafrost and coastal plain history of Arctic Alaska: Arctic Institute of North America Technical Paper 25, p. 31-47.
- Brown, Jerry, Grant, C.L., Ugolini, F.C., and Tedrow, J.C.F., 1962, Mineral composition of some drainage waters from Arctic Alaska: Journal of Geophysical Research, v. 67, no. 6, p. 2447-2454.
- Carlson, P.P., Roy, C.J., Hussey, K.M., Davidson, D.T., and Handy, R.L., 1959, Geology and mechanical stabilization of Cenozoic sediments near Point Barrow, <u>in</u> Davidson, D.T., and others. The geology and engineering characteristics of some Alaskan soils: Iowa State University Bulletin, Iowa Engineering Experiment Station, Bulletin, 186, p. 101-128.
- Carson, C.E., 1968, Radiocarbon dating of lacustrine strands in Arctic Alaska; Arctic, v. 21, no. 1, p. 12-26.
- Carson, C.E., and Hussey, K.M., 1959, The method of multiple working hypotheses applied to the oriented takes of northern Alaska: Iowa Academy of Sciences, Proceedings, v. 66, p. 334-349.
- Carson, C.E., 1960, Hydrodynamics in three Arctic lakes: Journal of Geology, v. 68, no. 6, p. 585-600.
- Carson, C.E., 1962, The oriented lakes of Arctic Alaska: Journal of Geology, v. 70, no. 4, p. 417-439.
- Carson, C.E., 1963, The oriented lakes of Arctic Alaska, a reply: Journal of Geology, v. 71, no. 4, p. 532-533.
- Carter, L.D., 1981a, A Pleistocene sand sea on the Alaskan Arctic Coastal Plain: Science, v. 211, no. 4480, p. 381-383.
- Carter, L.D., 1981b, Middle Wisconsinan through Holocene climate in the Ikpikpuk River region, Alaska: Tenth Annual Arctic Workshop, March 12-14, 1981, Institute of Arctic and Alpine Research, University of Colorado, Boulder, Proceedings, p. 5-9.
- Carter, L.D., 1982, Late Wisconsin desertification in northern Alaska: Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 14, no. 7, p. 461.
- Carter, L.D., 1983a. Engineering-geologic maps of northern Alaska: Teshekpuk Quadrangle: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 83-634, 1 sheet, scale 1:250,000.

- Carter, L.D., 1983b. Fossil sand wedges on the Alaskan arctic coastal plain and their paleoenvironmental significance: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 109-114.
- Carter, L.D., 1983c, A Pleistocene sand desert in Arctic Alaska (abs.): U.S. Geological Survey Circular 911, p. 36.
- Carter, L.D., 1983d, Cenozoic glacial and glaciomarine deposits of the central North Slope, Alaska, <u>in</u> Thorson, R.M., and Hamilton, T.D., eds., Glaciation in Alaska, Extended Abstracts from a Workshop: Alaska Quaternary Center, University of Alaska Museum Occasional Paper No. 2, p. 17-21.
- Carter, L.D., and Brigham-Greete, J.K., in press, Late Cenozoic marine transgressions of the Alaskan Arctic Coastal Plain, <u>in</u> Paper from a workshop on the correlation of Quaternary deposits and events around the Beaufort Sea (preliminary title): Geological Survey of Canada Paper.
- Carter, L.D., Forester, R.M., and Nelson, R.E., 1984, Mid Wisconsin through early Holocene changes in seasonal climate in northern Alaska: American Quaternary Association Eighth Biennial Meeting, Program with Abstracts, 13-15, August, 1984. p. 20-22.
- Carter, L.D., and Galloway, J.P., 1979a, Arctic Coastal Plain pingos in National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska, <u>in</u> Blean, K.M. and Williams, J.R., eds., The United States Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1978: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 804-B, B33-B35.
- Carter, L.D., and Galloway, J.P. 1979b, Southward-progressing stabilization of Holocene eolian sand on the western Arctic Coastal Plain, <u>in</u> Blean, K.M. and Williams, J.R., eds., The United States Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1978: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 804-B, B37-B39.
- Carter, L.D., and Galloway, J.P., 1982, Terraces of the Colville River Delta region, Alaska, <u>in</u> Coonrad, W.L., ed., The United States Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1980: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 884, p. 49-51.
- Carter, L.D., and Hopkins, D.M., 1982, Late Wisconsinan winter snow cover and sand-moving winds on the Arctic Coastal Plain of Alaska: Eleventh Annual Arctic Workshop, March 11-13, 1982, Institute of Arctic and Alpine Research, University of Colorado, Boulder, p. 8-10.
- Carter, L.D., Nelson, R.E., and Galloway, J.P., 1984, Evidence for latest Wisconsin early Holocene increased precipitation and summer warmth in arctic Alaska: Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 16, no. 5, p. 274.
- Carter, L.D., Marincovich, Louie, Jr., Brouwers, E.M., and Forester, P.M., 1979, Paleogeography of a Pleistocene coastline, Alaskan Arctic Coastal Plain, <u>in</u> Blean, K.M. and Williams, J.R., eds., The United State Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1978: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 804-B, p. B39-B41.
- Carter, L.D., Repenning, C.A., Marincovich, L.N., Hazel, J.E., Hopkins, D.M., McDougall, Kristin, and Naeser, C.W., 1977, Gubik and pre-Gubik Cenozoic deposits along the Colville River near Ocean Point, North Slope, Alaska, <u>in</u> Blean, K.M., ed., The United State Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1976: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 751-B, p. B12-B14.
- Carter, L.D., and Robinson, S.W., 1978, Eolian sand and interbedded organic horizons at Keolok Creek on the Arctic Coastal Plain of Alaska: possible regional implications: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 78-320, 26 p.
- Carter, L.D., and Robinson, S.W., 1981, Minimum age of beach deposits north of Teshekpuk Lake, Arctic Coastal Plain, <u>in</u> Albert, N.R.D., and Hudson, Travis, eds., The United State Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1979: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 823-B, p. B8-B9.
- Carter, R.D., Mull, C.G., Bird, K.J., and Powers, R.B., 1977, The petroleum geology and hydrocarbon potential of Naval Petroleum Reserve No. 4, North Slope, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-475, 61 p.
- Childers, J.M., Kernodle, D.R., and Loeffler, R.M., 1979, Hydrologic reconnaissance of western arctic Alaska, 1976 and 1977: U.S. Geological Jurvey Open-File Report 79-699, 70 p.
- Claypool, G.E., and Magoon, L.B., 1980, Vitrinite reflectance and C₁-C₂ hydrocarbon data for North Kalikpik No. 1 well, North Slope. Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Oil and field Investigations Chart OC-96, 1 sheet.
- Claypool, G.E., and Magoon, L.B., 1980, Vitrinite reflectance and C₁-C, hydrocarbon data for Cape Halkett No. 1 well, North Slope, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Oil and Gas Investigations Chart OC-97, 1 sheet.
- Collins, F.R., and Robinson, P.M., 1967, Subsurface stratigraphic, structural and economic geology, northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 287, 259 p.
- Cory, F.E., Berg, R.L., Burns, C.D., and Kachadoorian, Reuben, 1979, Design considerations for airfields in NPRA: Conference on applied techniques for cold environments, American Society of Civil Engineers, Proceedings, May 17-19, 1978, p. 441-458.
- Coulter, H.W., Hussey, K.M., and O'Sullivan, J.B., 1960, Radiocarbon dates relating to the Gubik Formation, northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 400-B, p. B350-351.
- Craig, J.D., and Thrasher. G.P., 1982, Environmental geology of Harrison Bay, northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 82-35, 25 p., 6 pls.
- Cronin, T.M., Szabo, B.J., Ager, T.A., Hazel, J.E., and Owens, J.P., 1981. Quaternary climates and sea levels of the U.S. Atlantic Coastal Plain: Science, v. .211, p. 233-240.

- Cronin, T.M., Ager, T.A., Szabo, B.J., Rosholt, John, and Shaw, E.G., 1984, Cold climates high sea level: Interglacial deposits of the North Carolina Coastal Plain: American Quaternary Association Eighth Biennial Meeting, Program and Abstracts, 13-15, 1984, p. 28.
- Curtis, S.M., and Rossiter, Richard, 1979, Gamma-ray values in Barrow, Teshekpuk, and Harrison Bay quadrangles, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 79-1146, 1 sheet.
- Curtis, S.M., Rossiter, Richard, Ellersieck, I.F., Mayfield, C.F., and Tailleur, I.L., 1979, Gamma-ray values in the Misheguk Mountain region and in parts of the Barrow, Teshekpuk, and Harrison Bay quadrangles, Alaska, <u>in</u> Blean, K.M. and Williams, J.R., eds., The United State Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1978: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 804-B, p. B14.
- Dall, W.H., 1921, Pliocene and Pleistocene fossils from the arctic coast of Alaska and the auriferous beaches of Nome, Norton Sound, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 125, p. 23-37.
- Dauson, A., 1977, The nature and distribution of lake types in the Colville River Delta, Alaska: Edinburgh, University of Edinburgh, Department of Geography Research Discussion Paper 11.
- Davies, K.L., in press. Duck-bill dinosaurs Hadrosauridae (Ornithischia) from the North Slope, Alaska: Journal of Paleontology.
- Davies, Oliver, 1981, A review of Wilson's theory that the Last Interglacial ended with an ice-surge, and the South African evidence therefore: Annals of the Natal Museum, v. 24, p. 701-720.
- Denton, G.H., and Hughes, T.J., 1983, Milankovitch theory of ice ages: Hypothesis of ice-sheet linkage between regional insolation and global climate: Quaternary Research, v. 20, no. 2, p. 125-144.
- Detterman, R.L., 1978, The Arctic Lowland region, potential landform and lifeform natural landmarks: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 78- 329, 411 p., 26 figs.
- Detterman, R.L., Reiser, H.N., Brosge, W.P., and Dutro, T.J., Jr., 1975, Post- Carboniferous stratigraphy, Northeast Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 886, 46 p.
- Dinter, D.A., in press, Quaternary sedimentation of the Alaskan Beaufort shelf: Influence of regional tectonics, fluctuating sea levels, and glacial sediment sources: Tectonophysics.
- Douglas, L.A., and Tedrow, J.C.F., 1959, Organic matter decomposition rates in arctic soils: Soil Science, v. 88, no. 6, p. 305-312.
- Douglas, L.A., and Tedrow, J.C.F., 1960. Tundra soils of arctic Alaska: International Congress of Soil Science, 7th, Repr. Trans., v. IV, p. 291-304.
- Drage, B., Gilman, J.F., Hoch, D., and Griffiths, L., 1983, Hydrology of North Slope Coastal Plain streams: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 249-254.
- Drew, J.V., 1957, A pedologic study of Arctic Coastal Plain soils near Point Barrow, Alaska: Doctoral dissertation. New Brunswick, New Jersey, Rutgers, University, 117 p.
- Drew, J.V., and Tedrow, J.C.F., 1962, Arctic soil classification and patterned ground: Arctic, v. 15, no. 2, p. 109-116.
- Drew, J.V., Tedrow, J.C.F., Shanks, R.E., and Koranda, J.J., 1958, Rate and depth of thaw in arctic soils: American Geophysical Union Transactions, v. 39, no. 4, p. 697-701.
- Duguid, J.O., 1971, Thin gravel deposits on wave-eroded cliffs near Barrow, Alaska: Arctic, v. 24, no. 4, p. 304-306.
- Esch, D.C., 1984, Design and performance of road and railway embankments on permafrost: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 25-30.
- Everett, K.R., 1979, Evolution of the soil landscape of the Arctic Coastal Plain as exemplified at Atkasook, Alaska: Arctic, v. 32, p. 207-223.
- Ferrians, O.J., Jr., compiler, 1965, Permafrost map of Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Geologic Investigations Map 1-445, 1 sheet, scale 1:2,500,000.
- Fredericksen, N.O., Ager, T.A., Oftedahl, O.G., and Edwards, L.E., in press, Palynological samples near the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary. North Slope of Alaska (abs.): Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogist Mid-year Annual Meeting.
- Furbringer, W., and Walker, H.J., 1973, Structure and mineralogy of a sediment core from the Colville River delta, Alaska: Polarforschung, v. 43, no. 1/2, p. 5-54.
- Galloway, J.P., 1982, Grain-size analyses of 20 eolian sand samples from northern Alaska, <u>in</u> Coonrad, W., ed., The United States Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1980: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 884, p. 51-53.
- Galloway, J.P., and Carter, L.D., 1978, Preliminary map of pingos in National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 78- 795, 1 sheet, scale 1:500,000.
- Giterman, R.E., Sher, A.V., and Matthews, J.V., Jr., 1982, Comparison of the development of steppe-tundra environments in west and east Beringia: pollen and macrofossil evidence from key sections, <u>in</u> Hopkins, D.M., Matthews, J.V., Jr., Schweger, C.E., and Young, J.P., eds., Paleoecology of Beringia, Academic Press, New York, p. 43-76.
- Gladenkov, Y.B., 1981, Marine Plio-Pleistocene of Iceland and problem of its correlation: Quaternary Research, v. 15, no. 1, p. 18-23.

- Glude, W.J., and Sloan, C.E., 1980, Reconnaissance snow survey of the National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska, April-May, 1979: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations 80-49, 13 p.
- Gold, L.W., and Lachenbruch, A.M., 1973, Thermal conditions in permafrost a review of North American literature, <u>in</u> Permafrost, North American Contribution to Second International Conference on Permafrost, Yakutsk, U.S.S.R., Washington, D.C., National Academy of Sciences, p. 3-25.
- Grantz, Arthur, Barnes, P.W., Ointer, U.A., Lynch, M.B., Reimnitz, Erk, and Scott, E.W., 1980, Geologic framework, hydrocarbon potential, environmental conditions, and anticipated technology for exploration and development of the Beaufort Shelf north of Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 80-94, 42 p.
- Grantz, Arthur, Barnes, P.W., Eittreim, S.L., Reimnitz, Erk, Scott, E.W., Smith, R.A., Stewart, George, and Toimil, L.J., 1976, Summary report of the sediments, structural framework, petroleum potential, environmental conditions, and operational considerations of the United States Beaufort Sea, Alaska area: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 76-830, 32 p.
- Grantz, Arthur, Dinter, D.A., and Biswas, N.N., 1983, Map cross-sections and chart showing Late Quaternary faults, folds, and earthquakes epicenters on the Alaskan Beaufort shelf: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Investigations Series Map I-1182C, scale 1:500,000, 3 sheets.
- Grantz, Arthur, and Greenberg, Jonathan, 1981, Map showing tracklines of high- resolution Uniboom seismic reflection profiles collected August 25 through October 5, 1977, in the Beaufort Sea: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 81-34, scale 1:500,000 and 1:1,000,000.
- Grantz, Arthur, Holmes, M.L., and Kososiki, B.A., 1976, Geologic framework of the Alaskan continental terrace in the Chukchi and Beaufort Seas, <u>in</u> Canada's continental margins: Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, Memoir 4, p. 669-700.
- Gray, J.T., 1984, Reconstruction and future predictions of the effects of climate change: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 156-160.
- Greenberg, Jonathan, Hart, P.E., and Grantz, Arthur, 1979, Bathymetric map of the continental shelf, slope, and rise of the Beaufort Sea north of Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 79-1313, 6 sheets, approx. scale 1:250,000.
- Gryc, George, Patton, W.W., Jr., and Payne, T.G., 1951, Present Cretaceous stratigraphic nomenclature of northern Alaska: Washington Academy of Sciences Journal, v. 41, p. 159-167.
- Gryc, G., Tailleur, I.L., and Brosgé, W.P., 1969, Geologic framework of the "North Slope" petroleum province: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 390, 15 p.
- Hamilton, R.A., Ho., C.L., and Walker, H.J., 1974, Breakup flooding and nutrient source of Colville River Delta during 1973, <u>in</u> Reed, J.C., and Safer, J.E., eds., The coast and shelf of the Beaufort Sea: Washington, D.C., Arctic Institute of North America, p. 637-648.
- Hamilton, T.D., 1967, Alaskan temperature fluctuations and trends: an analysis of recorded data: Arctic, v. 18, no. 2, p. 105-117.
- Hamilton, T.D., 1979, Surficial geology, Chandler Lake quadrangle, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Field Investigations Map MF 1121, 1 sheet, scale 1:250,000.
- Hamilton, T.D., 1981, Multiple moisture sources in the Brooks Range glacial record: Tenth Annual Arctic Workshop, March 12-14, 1981, Institute of Arctic and Alpine Research, University of Colorado, Boulder, Proceedings, p. 16-18.
- Hamilton, T.D., and Bauer, D.P., 1984, Engineering-geologic maps of northern Alaska: Howard Pass Quadrangle: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 84-401, 1 sheet, scale 1:250,000.
- Hanna, G.D., 1963, Oil seepages on the Arctic Coastal Plain, Alaska: California Academy of Sciences, Occasional Papers no. 38, 18 p., 1 fig., 1 pl.
- Hartz, R.W., 1978a, High spindrift and storm surge limits. Icy Cape to the Colville River, <u>in</u> Hopkins, D.M., and Hartz, R.W., Shoreline history of Chukchi and Beaufort Seas as an aid to predicting offshore permafrost conditions: U.S. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Environmental Assessment of the Alaskan Continental Shelf, Annual Report, Task D-9, Research Unit 473, April 1977 to March 1978, Appendix 'IV, 1 p., 4 maps.
- Hartz, R.W., 1978b, Erosional hazards map of the arctic coast of the National Petroleum Reserve Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 78- 406, 7 p., approx. scale 1:817,300.
- Haugen, R.K., and Brown, Jerry, 1980, Coastal-inland distribution of summer air temperature and precipitation in northern Alaska, <u>in</u> Batzli, G.O., ed., Patterns of vegetation and herbivory in arctic tundra, results from the research on Arctic tundra environments (RATE) program: Arctic and Alpine Research, v. 12, no. 4, p. 403-412.
- Haytey, D.W., 1984, Geotechnical and engineering significance of subsea permafrost: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 93-95.
- Hittelman, A.M., 1982, Catalog of geological and geophysical data for the National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska: National Geophysical and Solar- Terrestrial Data Center, N.O.A.A., Boulder, CO. 80303.
- Ho, C.L., and Walker, H.J., 1976, Contribution of nutrients from sediments and interstitial water to the Colvilie River system, Alaska: Geografiska Annaler, v. 58A, no. 1, p. 41-45.
- Hodgson, D.A., 1982, Surficial materials and geomorphological processes, western Sverdrup and adjacent islands. District of Franklin: Geological Survey of Canada paper 81-9, 44 p.

- Hollin, J.T., 1982, Rapid transgressions and coolings in isotope stage 5: Program and Abstracts, Seventh Biennial Conference, American Quaternary Association, June 28 - 30, 1983, Seattle, Washington, p. 44-46.
- Hopkins, D.M., 1967, Quaternary marine transgressions in Alaska, <u>in</u> Hopkins, D.M., ed., The Bering Land Bridge, Stanford University Press, Stanford, California, p. 47-90.
- Hopkins, D.M., 1972, The paleogeography and climatic history of Beringia during late Cenozoic time: Inter-Nord, v. 12, p. 121-150.
- Hopkins, D.M., 1973, Sea level history in Beringia during the past 250,000 years: Quaternary Research, v. 3, no. 4, p. 520-540.
- Hopkins, D.M., 1979, The Flaxman Formation of northern Alaska; record of early Wisconsinan shelf glaciation in the night Arctic? (abs.): 14th Pacific Science Conference, Khabarovsk, U.S.S.R., Proceedings, Additional volume, p. 15-16.
- Hopkins, D.M., 1982, Abortive glaciations at high latitudes indicated by glaciomarine deposits, Gubik Formation, northern Alaska: Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, v. 14, no. 7, p. 518.
- Hopkins, D.M., and Hartz, R.M., 1978a, Shoreline history of Chukchi and Beaufort Seas as an aid to predicting offshore permafrost conditions: U.S. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Environmental Assessment of the Alaska Continental Shelf, Annual Report, Task D-9, Research Unit 473, April 1977 to March 1978, 3 p., 5 appended reports.
- Hopkins, D.M., and Hartz, R.W., 1978b, Coastal morphology, coastal erosion, and barrier island of the Beaufort Sea, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 78-1063, 54 p.
- Hopkins, D.M., McDougall, Kristin, and Brouwers, Elizabeth, 1981, Microfossil studies of Pelukian and Flaxman deposits, Alaska coast of the Beaufort sea, <u>in</u> Smith, P.A., Hartz, R.W., and Hopkins, D.M., Offshore permafrost studies and shoreline history as an aid to predicting offshore permafrost conditions: U.S. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Environmental Assessment of the Alaskan Continental Shelf, Annual Report, Task D-9, Research Unit 204 and 473, April 1979 to March 1980, Appendix G, p.64-71.
- Hopkins, D.M., and Robinson, S.W., 1979, Radiocarbon dates from the Beaufort and Chukchi Sea coasts, <u>in</u> Blean, K.M. and Williams, J.R., eds., The United State Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1978: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 804-B, B44-B47.
- Hume, J.D., 1964, Shoreline changes near Barrow, Alaska, caused by the storm of October 3, 1963: Science in Alaska, 15th Alaskan Science Conference, College, Alaska, Proceedings, p. 96.
- Hume, J.D., 1965, Sea level changes during the last 2,000 years at Point Barrow, Alaska: Science, v. 150, no. 3700, p. 1165-1166.
- Hume, J.D., and Schalk, Marshall, 1963, The effects of beach borrowing in the Arctic (abs.): American Geophysical Union Transactions, v.44, no. 1, p. 67.
- Hume, J.D., and Schalk, Marshall, 1964a, The effects of ice push on arctic beaches: American Journal of Science, v. 262, no. 2, p. 267-273.
- Hume, J.D., and Schalk, Marshall, I964b, The effects of beach borrow in the Arctic: Shore and Beach, April issue.
- Hume, J.D., and Schalk, Marshall, 1967, Shoreline processes near Barrow, Alaska: a comparison of the normal and the catastrophic: Arctic, v. 20, p. 86-103.
- Hume, J.D., Schalk, Marshall, and Hume, H.W., 1972, Short-term climate changes and coastal erosion, Barrow, Alaska: Arctic, v. 25, no. 4, p. 272-278.
- Hussey, K.M., and Michelson, R.W., 1966, Tundra relief features near Point Barrow, Alaska: Arctic, v. 19, p. 162-184.
- Jahns, H.O., 1984a, Subsea permafrost and petroleum development: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 88-89.
- Jahns, H.O., and Michelson, R.W., 1984b, Pipeline thermal considerations: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 101-105.
- Johnson, E.R., 1984, Performance of the trans-Alaska oil pipeline: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairb8, Hydrology of a drainage basin on the Alaskan Coastal Plain: U.S. Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory, Research Report 240, 18 p.
- Johnson, K.M., 1978, Map showing slopes and selected geomorphic features, National Petroleum Reserve Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 78-206, 1 sheet, scale 1:500,000.
- Kachadoorian, Reuben, Crory, F.E., and Berg, R.L., 1979, Design of airfields in National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska, <u>in</u> Blean, K.M. and Williams, J.R., eds., The United State Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1978: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 804-B, p. B51-B52.
- Kaiser Engineers, Inc., 1977, Technical and economic feasibility surface mining coal deposits North Slope of Alaska: U.S. Bureau of Mines Open-File Report 153-77, 158 p.
- Kirschner, C.E., 1983, The Arctic Platform in the National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska deposition, deformation, and petroleum potential (abs.): U.S. Geological Survey Circular 911, p. 24-27.
- Komarkova, V., 1983, Recovery of plant communities and summer thaw at the 1949 Fish Creek test well I, arctic Alaska: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 645-650.

- Kososki, B.A., and Anderson, R.C., 1977, Digital processing of a 24 channel, single-fold seismic reflection line from Naval Petroleum Reserve No. 4, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-707, 7 p.
- LaBell, J.C., 1973, Fill materials and aggregate near Barrow, Naval Petroleum Reserve No. 4, Alaska: Arctic Institute of North America, Contract NOd- 9915 (72-2), Office of Naval Petroleum and Oil Shale Reserves, 147 p.
- Lachenbruch, A.M., 1957a, Thermal effects of the ocean on permafrost: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 68, no. 11, p. 1515-1530.
- Lachenbruch, A.M., 1957b, Three dimensional heat conduction beneath heated buildings: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 1052-B, 69 p.
- Lachenbruch, A.H., 1959, Periodic heat flow in a stratified medium with application to permafrost problems: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 1083- A, 34 p.
- Lachenbruch, A.H., 1962, Mechanics of thermal contraction cracks and ice-wedge polygons in permafrost: Geological Society of America Special Paper 70, 69 p.
- Lachenbruch, A.H., Brewer, M.C., Greene, G.W., and Marshall, B.V., 1962, Temperatures in permafrost, in Temperature -its measurement and control in science and industry, v. 3, pt. 1: New York, Reinhold Publishing Company, p. 791-803.
- Lachenbruch, A.H., and Marshall, B.V., 1969, Heat flow in the Arctic: Arctic, v. 22, no. 3, p. 300-311.
- Lachenbruch, A.H., Sass, J.H., Lawyer, L.A., Brewer, M.C., and Moses, T.H., Jr., 1982, Depth and temperature on the Alaskan Arctic Slope; preliminary results: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 82-1039, 30 p.
- Lathram, E.H., 1965, Preliminary geologic map of northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 254, 2 sheets, scale 1:1,000,000.
- Lawson, D.E., 1982, Long-term modifications of perennially frozen sediment and terrain at East Oumalik, northern Alaska: U.S. Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory Report 82-36, 33 p.
- Lawson, D.E., 1983 Ground ice in perennially frozen sediments, northern Alaska: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Proceedings, Washington, D.C., rational Academy Press, p. 695-700.
- Lawson, D.E., Brown, J., Everett, K.R., Johnson, A.M., Komarkova, V., Murray, B.M., Murray, D.F., and Webber, P.J., 1978, Tundra disturbance and recovery following the 1949 exploratory drilling. Fish Creek, Northern Alaska: U.S. Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory Report 78-28, 91 p.
- Leffingwell, E. de k, 1908, Flaxman Island, a glacial remnant: Journal of Geology, v. 16, no. 1, p. 56-64.
- Leffingwell, E. de k, 1915, Ground-ice wedges; the dominant form of ground ice on the north coast of Alaska: Journal of Geology, v. 23, p. 635-654.
- Leffingwell, E. de k, 1919, The Canning River Region northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 109, 251 p.
- Lewellen, R.I., 1965, Characteristics and rates of thermal erosion. Barrow, Alaska: Master's thesis. University of Denver, Denver, Colorado, 181 p.
- Lewellen, R.I., 1970, Permafrost erosion along the Beaufort Sea coast, Littleton, Colorado, 25 p., (Published privately).
- Lewellen, R.I., 1972a, The occurrence and characteristics of nearshore permafrost, northern Alaska: Arctic Institute of North America, contract N00014-70-A- 0219-001, subcontract ONR-433, Progress Report dated November 1, 77 p.
- Lewellen, R.I., 1972b, Studies on the fluvial environment, Arctic Coastal Plain Province, northern Alaska: Littleton, Colorado 2 v., 282, (Published privately).
- Lewellen, R.I., 1973, The occurrence and characteristics of nearshore permafrost, northern Alaska, <u>in</u> Permafrost: The North American Contribution to the Second International Conference on Permafrost, Yakutsk, U.S.S.R.: Washington, D.C., National Academy of Sciences, p. 131-136.
- Lewellen, R.I., 1974, Offshore permafrost of the Beaufort Sea, Alaska, <u>in</u> Reed, J. C., and Sater, J. E., eds., The coast and shelf of the Beaufort Sea: Proceedings of a symposium on Beaufort Sea Coast and shelf research: Arctic Institute of North America, 750 p.
- Lewellen, R.I., 1977a, A study of Beaufort Sea coastal erosion, northern Alaska: U.S. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Environmental Assessment of the Alaskan Continental Shelf, Annual Reports, Principals Investigators for the year ending March 1977, v. 15, p. 491-527.
- Lewellen, R.I., 1977b, Subsea permafrost research techniques: Geoscience and Man, v. 18, p. 29-34, 4 figs.
- Livingstone, D.A., 1954, On the orientation of lake basins: American Journal of Science, v. 252, p. 547-554.
- Livingstone, D.A., 1955, Some pollen profiles from arctic Alaska: Ecology, v. 36, no. 4, p. 587-600.
- Livingstone, D.A., Bryan, Kirk, Jr., and Leahy, R.6., 1958, Effects of an arctic environment on the origin and development of freshwater lakes: Limnology and Oceanography, v. 3, p. 194-214.
- Macbeth, J. I., and Schmidt, R.A.M., 1973, Upper Cretaceous foraminifera from Ocean Point, northern Alaska: Journal of Paleontology, v. 47, p. 1047- 1061.
- MacCarthy, G.R., 1952, Geothermal investigations on the Arctic Slope of Alaska: American Geophysical Union Transaction, v. 33, no. 4, p. 589-593.

MacCarthy, G.R., 1953, Recent changes in the shoreline near Point Barrow, Alaska: Arctic, v. 6, no. 1, p. 44-51.

- MacCarthy, G.R., 1958, Glacial boulders on the Arctic coast of Alaska: Arctic, v. 11, p. 70-85.
- McCulloch, D.S., 1967, Quaternary geology of the Alaskan shore of Chukchi Sea, <u>in</u> Hopkins, D.M., ed., The Bering Land Bridge: Stanford, California, Stanford University Press, p. 91-120.
- McDougall, Kristin, 1983, Quaternary microfossils on the arctic shelf (abs.): U.S. Geological Survey Circular 911, p. 39-40.
- MacGinitie, G.E., 1955, Distribution and ecology of the marine invertebrates of Point Barrow, Alaska: Smithsonian Miscellaneous Collections, v. 128, no. 9, 201 p.
- McKenzie, L.S., and Walker, H.J., 1974, Morphology of an arctic river bar: Baton Rouge, Louisiana State University, Coastal Studies Institute Technical Report.
- McVee, C.V., and Tileston, J.V., 1984, Regulatory responsibilities in permafrost environments of Alaska from the perspective of a federal land manager: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 125-128.
- MacNeil, F.S., 1957, Cenozoic megafossils of northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 294-C, p. 99-126.
- Magoon, L.B., and Claypool, G.E., 1980, Vitrinite reflectance and C₁-C, hydrocarbon data for South Harrison Bay No. 1 well, North Slope, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Oil and Gas Investigations Chart OC-93, 1 sheet.
- Magoon, L.B., and Claypool, G.E., 1980, Vitrinite reflectance and C₁-C₇ hydrocarbon data for West Fish Creek 1 well, North Slope, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Oil and Gas Investigations Chart OC-95, 1 sheet.
- Magoon, L.B., and Claypool, G.E., 1979, Two oil types on the North Slope of Alaska implications for future exploration: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File report 79-1649, 13 p. 10 figs.
- Marincovich, Louie, Jr., Brouwers, Elisabeth, and Carter, L.D., in press, Early Tertiary marine fossils from northern Alaska: implications for Arctic Ocean paleogeography and faunal evolution: Geology.
- Mars, J.C., Garrity, C.P., Houseknecht, D.W., and Meares, Don, 2005, Digital-elevation and surface-classification maps of the Fish Creek area, Harrison Bay quadrangle, northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2005-XXXX.
- Martin, G.C., and Callahan, J.E., 1978, Preliminary report on the coal resources of the National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 78-1033, 23 p., 2 plates, scale 1:500,000.
- Mather, J.R., and Thornthwaite, C.W., 1958, Microclimate investigations at Point Barrow, Alaska, 1957-58: Centerton, New Jersey, Drexel Institute of Technology, Laboratory of Climatology, Publications in Climatology, v. 9, no. 2.
- Maurer, D.K., Barnes, P.M., and Reimnitz, Erk, 1978, U.S. Geological Survey marine geologic studies in the Beaufort Sea, Alaska, 1978: Data type, location, and records obtained: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 78-1066, 3 p., 4 plates.
- Mercer, J.H., 1978, West Antarctic ice sheet and CO₂ greenhouse effect: a threat of disaster: Nature, v. 271, p. 321-325.
- Metz, M.C., 1984, Pipeline workpads in Alaska: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 106-108.
- Miller, R.D., 1984, Thermally induced regelation: a qualitative discussion: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 61-63.
- Mohr, J.L., Reish, D.J., Barnard, J.L., Lewis, P.M., and Geiger, S.R., 1961, The marine nature of Nuwuk Lake and small ponds of the peninsula at Point Barrow, Alaska: Arctic, v. 14. no. 4, p. 211-223.
- Molenaar, C.M., 1981, Depositional history and seismic stratigraphy of Lower Cretaceous rocks, National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska and adjacent areas: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 81-1084, 42 p.
- Morack. J.L., and Rogers, J.C., 1981, Beaufort and Chukchi seacoast permafrost studies, in Environmental Assessment of the Alaskan Continental Shelf, Annual reports of principal investigators for the year ending March 1981, v. 8, Hazards and data management: U.S. Department of Commerce and U.S. Department of the Interior, p. 293-332.
- Morrissey, L.A., 1979, Succession of plant communities in response to thaw lake activity on the Arctic coastal Plain, Alaska: Master's thesis, Department of Geography, San Jose State University, San Jose, California, 71 p.
- Morrissey, L.A., and Ennis, R.A., 1981, Vegetation mapping of the National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska using LANDSAT digital data: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 81-315, 25 p.
- Mowatt, T.C., Naidu, A.S., and Veach, Nomok, 1974, Clay mineralogy of the lower Colville River and Colville Delta, north arctic Alaska: Alaska Division of Geological and Geophysical Surveys Open-File Report AOF-45, 39 p.
- Nelson, R.E., 1978, Modern pollen rain on the Chukchi and Beaufort Sea coasts, Alaska, <u>in</u> Hopkins, D.M., and Hartz, R.M., Shoreline history of Chukchi and Beaufort Seas as an aid to predicting offshore permafrost conditions: U.S. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Environmental Assessment of the Alaskan Continental Shelf, Annual Report, Task D-9, Research Unit 473, April 1977 to March 1978, Appendix III, 8 p.
- Nelson, R.E., 1981, Paleoenvironments during deposition of a section of the Gubik Formation exposed along the lower Colville River, North Slope, <u>in</u> Albert, N.R.D., and Hudson, Travis, eds., The United State Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1979: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 823-B, p. B9-B11.
- Nelson, R.E., and Carter, L.D., in press. Pollen analysis of a part of the Gubik Formation, Arctic Coastal Plain, Alaska: Quaternary Research.

- Olhoeft, G.R., 1978, Electrical properties of permafrost: International Conference on Permafrost, 3rd, Edmonton, Alberta, July 10-13, 1978, Proceedings: Ottawa, National Research Council of Canada, p. 127-131.
- Olhoeft, G.R., Watts, Ray, Frischkencht, Franck, Bradley, F., and Dansereau, D. 1978, Electromagnetic geophysical exploration in the National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska, <u>in</u> Symposium on Permafrost Field Methods, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, October 4, 1977, Proceedings: Ottawa, National Research Council of Canada Technical Memorandum.
- Osterkamp, T.E., 1972, Properties of ice in the Colville River area, <u>in</u> Kinney, P.J., and others. Baseline data study of the Alaskan arctic aquatic environment: Fairbanks, University of Alaska, Institute of Marine Sciences Report R72-3, p. 49-58.
- Osterkamp, T.E., 1976, A conceptual model of offshore permafrost: The Northern Engineer, v. 7, no 4, p. 5-10.
- Osterkamp, T.E., 1984, Response of Alaskan permafrost to climate: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 145-152.
- Osterkamp, T.E., and Payne, M.W., 1981, Estimates of permafrost thickness from well logs in northern Alaska: Cold Regions Science and Technology, v. 5, p. 13-27.
- O'Sullivan, J.B., 1961, Quaternary geology of the Arctic Coastal Plain, northern Alaska: Doctoral dissertation, Iowa State University of Science and Technology, Ames, 191 p.
- O'Sullivan, J.B., 1966, Geochemistry of permafrost. Barrow, Alaska: International Conference on Permafrost, 11-15 November 1963, Lafayette, Indiana: National Academy of Sciences - National Research Council Publication 1287, p. 30-37.
- O'Sullivan, J.B., Davidson, D.T., Roy, C.J., Handy, R.L., and Hussey, K.M., 1959, Crude oil for stabilization of soil materials at Point Barrow, <u>in</u> Davidson, D.T., and others. The geology and engineering characteristics of some Alaskan soils: Iowa State University Engineering Experiment Station Bulletin 186, p. 129-149.
- O'Sullivan, J.B., and Hussey, K.M., 1957, Problems associated with soils stabilization in the vicinity of Point Barrow, Alaska: Iowa Academy of Sciences Proceedings, v. 64, p. 429-442.
- Payne, T.G., and others, 1951, Geology of the arctic slope of Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Oil and Gas Investigation Map OM-126, 3 sheets, scale 1:1,000,000.
- Peake, J., and Walker, H.J., 1973, Snowmelt, runoff, and breakup in the Colville River delta, 1971: Climatological Bulletin, v. 13, p. 21-26
- Péwé, T.L., 1959, Sand-wedge polygons (tessellations) in the McMurdo Sound Region, Antarctica a progress report: American Journal of Science, v. 257, p. 545-552.
- Péwé, T.L., and Church, R.E., 1962, Age of the spit at Barrow, Alaska: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 73, no. 10, p. 1287-1292.
- Price, W.A., 1963, The oriented lakes of arctic Alaska; a discussion: Journal of Geology, v. 71, no. 4, p. 530-532.
- Rearic, D.M., Barnes, P.M., and Reimnitz, Erk, 1981, Ice-gouge data, Beaufort Sea, Alaska, 1972-1980: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 81-950, 8 microfiche cards.
- Reed, J.C., 1958, Exploration of Naval Petroleum Reserve No. 4 and adjacent areas, northern Alaska, 1944-1953, part 1, History of the exploration: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 301, 192 p.
- Reimnitz, Erk, Barnes, P.M., and Alpha, T.R., 1973, Bottom features and processes related to drifting ice on the arctic shelf, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Field Studies Map MF-532, 1 sheet, scale 1:1,000,000.
- Reimnitz. Erk, Barnes, Peter, and Maurer, Douglas, 1979, U.S.G.S. marine geologic studies in the Beaufort Sea, Alaska, 1976: data type, location, and records obtained: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 79-766, 4 p., 4 plates.
- Reimnitz, Erk, Kempema, Edward, Ross, Robin, and Minkler, Peter, 1980, Overconsolidated surficial deposits on the Beaufort Sea Shelf: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 80-2010, 37 p.
- Reimnitz, Erk, Maurer, D.K., 1978, Storm surges in the Alaskan Beaufort Sea: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 78-593, 26 p.
- Reimnitz, Erk, Maurer, Doug, Barnes, Peter, and Toimil, Larry, 1977, Some physical properties of shelf surface sediments, Beaufort Sea, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-416, 23 p.
- Repenning, C.A., 1983, New evidence for the age of the Gubik Formation, Alaskan North Slope: Quaternary Research, v. 19, no.3, p. 356-372.
- Rex, R.W., 1961, Hydrodynamic analyses of circulation and orientation of lakes in northern Alaska, <u>in</u> Raasch, G.O., ed., Geology of the Arctic: Toronto, University of Toronto Press, p. 1021-1043.
- Rex, R.W., 1964, Arctic beaches, Barrow, Alaska, <u>in</u> Miller, R.L., ed., Papers in Marine Geology (Shepard Commemorative volume): New York, Macmillan Company, p. 384-400.
- Rex, R.W., and Taylor, E.J., 1953, Uplifted beach ridges and first generation lakes in the Barrow area, Alaska: Unpublished final report of NONR Contract NONR 225(09), Palo Alto, California, Department of Geology, Stanford University.
- Rickert, D.A., and Tedrow, J.C.F., 1967, Pedologic investigations of some eolian deposits of northern Alaska: Soil Science, v. 104, p. 250-262.
- Ritchie, W., and Walker, H.J., 1974, River bank forms of the Colville River delta, <u>in</u> Reed, J.C., and Safer, J.E., eds., The coast and shelf of the Beaufort Sea: Washington, D.C., Arctic Institute of North America, p. 542-562.
- Ritchie, W., and Walker, H.J., 1974, River in the frozen north: Geographical Magazine, v. 46, no. 11, p. 634-640.

- Robinson, F.M., and Collins, F.R., 1959, Core test, Sentinel Hill area and test well. Fish Creek area, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 305-1, p. 485-521.
- Rodeick, C.A., 1975, The origin, distribution, and depositional history of gravel deposits on the Beaufort Sea continental shelf, Alaska: Master's Thesis, San Jose State University, California, 87 p.
- Rodeick, C.A., 1979, The origin, distribution, and depositional history of gravel deposits on the Beaufort Sea continental shelf, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 79-234, 87 p., 31 figs.
- Rosenfeld, G.A., and Hussey, K.M., 1958, A consideration of the problem of oriented lakes: Iowa Academy of Sciences, Proceedings, v. 65, p. 279-287.
- Ruddiman, W.F., and McIntyre, A., 1979, Warmth of the subpolar North Atlantic Ocean during northern hemisphere ice-sheet growth: Science, v. 204, p. 173-175.
- Schell, D., and Hall, G., 1972, Water chemistry and nutrient regeneration process studies, <u>in</u> Kinney, P.J., and others, Baseline data study of the Alaskan arctic aquatic environment: Fairbanks, University of Alaska, Institute of Marine Sciences Report R72-3, p. 3-28.
- Schindler, J., and Walker, H.J., 1975, Nearshore environments of the North Slope and the petroleum industry, in Coastal resources: Baton Rouge, Louisiana State University, Geoscience and Man, v. 13, p. 67-76.
- Schmidt, R.A.M., 1967, New generic assignments for some Pleistocene Ostracoda from Alaska: Journal of Paleontology, v. 41, p. 487-488.
- Schmidt, R.A.M., and Sellmann, P.V., 1966, Mummified Pleistocene ostracods in Alaska: Science, v. 153, no. 3732, p. 167-168.
- Schneider, K.B., and Faro, J.B., 1975, Effects of sea ice on sea otters: Journal of Mammology, v. 56, no. 1, p. 91-101.
- Schrader, F.C., 1904, A reconnaissance in northern Alaska across the Rocky Mountains, along the Koyukuk, John, Anaktuvuk, and Colville Rivers and the arctic coast to Cape Lisburne in 1901: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 20, 139 p.
- Sellmann, P.V., and Brown, Jerry, 1965, Coring of frozen ground, Barrow, Alaska: U.S. Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory Special Report 82, 8 p.
- Sellmann, P.V., and Brown, Jerry, 1973, Stratigraphy and diagenesis of perennially frozen sediments in the Barrow, Alaska region, <u>in</u> International Conference on Permafrost, 2nd, North American Contribution, Yakutsk, U.S.S.R., National Academy of Sciences, p. 171-181.
- Sellmann, P.V., Brown, Jerry, Lewellen, R.I., McKim, H., and Merry, Carolyn, 1975, The classification and geomorphic implications of thaw lakes on the arctic coastal plain, Alaska: U.S. Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory, Research Report 344, 21 p.
- Sellmann, P.V., Carey, K.L., Keeler, Charles, and Hartwell, A.D., 1972, Terrain and. coastal conditions on the Arctic Alaskan Coastal Plain: U.S. Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory Special Report 165, 74 p.
- Sellmann, P.V., and Hopkins, D.M., 1984, Subsea permafrost distribution on the Alaskan shelf: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 75-82.
- Sellmann, P.V., Neave, K.G., Chamberlain, E.J., and Delaney, A.J., 1981, Delineation and engineering characteristics of permafrost beneath the Beaufort Sea, <u>in</u> Environmental Assessment of the Alaskan Continental Shelf, Annual reports of principal investigators for the year ending March 1981, v. 7, Hazards and data management: U.S. Department of Commerce and U.S. Department of the Interior, p. 137-156.
- Sellmann, P.V., Weeks, W.F., and Campbell, W.J., 1975, Use of side-looking airborne radar to determine lake depth in the Alaskan North Slope: U.S. Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory Special Report 230, 6 p.
- Shackleton, N.J., Backman, J., Zimmerman, H., Kent, D.V., Hall, M.A., Roberts, D.G., Schmitker, D., Baldauf, J.G., Despraires, A., Homrighausen, R., Huddlestuss, P, Keene, J.G., Kaltenback, A.J., Krumsiek, K.A.O., Morton, A.L., Murray, J.W., and Westberg-Smith, J., 1984, Oxygen isotope calibration of the onset of ice-rafting and history of glaciation in the North Atlantic region: Nature v. 307, p. 620-623.
- Shackleton, N.J., and Opdyke, N.D., 1977, Oxygen isotope and palaeomagnetic evidence for early Northern Hemisphere glaciation: Nature, v. 270, p. 216-219.
- Short, A.D., and Wiseman, W.J., Jr., 1973, Freezing effects on arctic beaches: Louisiana State University Coastal Studies Bulletin 7, Technical Report 128, p. 23-32.
- Short, A.D., and Wiseman, W.J., Jr., 1974, Freezeup processes on arctic beaches: Arctic, v. 27, p. 215-224.
- Short, A.D., and Wiseman, W.J., Jr., 1975, Coastal breakup in the Alaskan Arctic: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 86, no. 2, p. 199-202.
- Slaughter, C.W., Mellor, Malcolm, Sellmann, P.V., Brown, Jerry, and Brown, L., 1975, Accumulating snow to augment the fresh water supply at Barrow, Alaska: U.S. Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory Special Report 217, 21 p.
- Sloan, C.E., 1983, Hydrology of the North Slope, Alaska (abs.): U.S. Geological Survey Circular 911, p. 44.
- Sloan, C.E., and Snyder, F.F., 1978, Hydrologic and reconnaissance of lakes in NPRA, <u>in</u> Johnson, K.E., ed., The United States Geological Survey in Alaska - Accomplishments during 1977: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 772-B, p. B28-B29.

- Sloan, Charles, Trabant, Dennis, and Glude, William, 1979, Reconnaissance snow surveys of the National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska, April 1977 and April- May 1978: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Open-File Report 79-1342, 31 p.
- Smith, M., 1984, Climate change and other effects on permafrost: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 153-155.
- Smith, P.S., and Mertie, J.B., Jr., 1930, Geology and mineral resources of northwestern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 815, 351, p.
- Stefansson, Vilhjalmur, 1980, Underground ice sheets of the arctic tundra: American Geographical Society Bulletin, v. 40, p. 176-177.
- Stefansson, Vilhjalmur, 1910, Ground ice in northern Alaska: American Geographical Society Bulletin, v. 42, p. 337-345.
- Stipp, J.J., Chappell, J.H.A., and McDougall, I., 1967, K-Ar age estimate of the Pliocene-Pleistocene boundary in New Zealand: American Journal of Science, v. 265, p. 462-474.
- Swain, P.M., 1961, Ostracoda from the Pleistocene Gubik formation, Arctic Coastal Plain, Alaska, <u>in</u> Raasch, G.O., ed., Geology of the Arctic: Toronto, University of Toronto Press, p. 600-606.
- Taber, Stephen, 1943, Perennially frozen ground in Alaska: its origin and history: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 54, p. 1433-1548.
- Tailleur, I.L., and Engwicht, S.E., 1978, Generalized structure map of top, middle, and basal Tertiary markers with geothermal gradients, eastern North Slope petroleum province, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Field Studies Map MF-928B, 1 sheet, scale I:500,000.
- Tappan, Hellen, 1961, Foraminifera from Pleistocene Gubik Formation, of northern Alaska (abs.): American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, v. 45, no. 1, p. 132.
- Tappan, Hellen, 1962, Foraminifera from the Arctic Slope of Alaska Part 3, Cretaceous Foraminifera: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 236-C p. 91-203.
- Tedrow, J.C.F., 1965, Concerning genesis of the buried organic matter in tundra soil: Soil Science Society of America Proceedings, v. 29, p. 89-90.
- Tedrow, J.C.F., 1969, Thaw lakes, thaw sinks, and soils in northern Alaska: Biuletyn Peryglacjalny, no. 20, p. 337-344.
- Tedrow, J.C.F., 1977, Soils of the polar landscapes: New Brunswick, New Jersey, Rutgers University Press, 638 p.
- Tedrow, J.C.F., and Cantlon, J.E., 1958, Concepts of soil formation and classification in arctic regions: Arctic, v. 11, no. 3, p. 166-179.
- Tedrow, J.C.F., Drew, J.V., Hill, D.E., and Douglas, J.A., 1958, Major genetic soils of the Arctic Slope of Alaska: Journal of Soil Science, v. 9, p. 33-45.
- Tedrow, J.C.F., and Hill, D.E., 1955, Arctic brown soil: Soil Science, v. 80, p. 265-275.
- Vail, P.R., Hardenbol, J., and Todd, R.G., 1984, Jurassic unconformities, chronostratigraphy and sea-level changes from seismic stratigraphy and biostratigraphy: American Association of Petroleum Geologists Memoir 36, p. 129-144.
- Wahrhaftig, Clyde, 1965, Physiographic divisions of Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 482, 52 p., 6 pls.
- Walker, H.J., 1966, Permafrost and ice-wedge effect on river bank erosion, <u>in</u> International Conference on Permafrost, Lafayette, Ind., 1963, Proceedings: National Academy of Sciences, National Research Council Publication 1287, p. 164-171.
- Walker, H.J., 1973a, Spring discharge of an arctic river determined from salinity measurements beneath sea ice: Water Resources Research, v. 9, p. 474-480.
- Walker, H.J., 1973b, The nature of the seawater-freshwater interface during breakup in the Colville River delta, Alaska, <u>in</u> Permafrost: The North American contribution to the Second International Conference, Yakutsk, Siberia, U.S.S.R.: Washington, D.C., National Academy of Sciences, p. 473-476.
- Walker, H.J., 1973c Morphology of the North Slope, in Britton, M. E., ed., Alaskan arctic tundra: Washington, D.C., Arctic Institute of North America Technical Paper 25, p. 49-92.
- Walker, H.J., 1974, The Colville River and the Beaufort Sea: Some interactions, <u>in</u> Reed, J.C., and Sater, J.E., eds., The coast and shelf of the Beaufort Sea: Washington, D.C., Arctic Institute of North America, p. 513-540.
- Walker, H.J., 1975, Intermittent arctic streams and their influence on landforms: Catena, v. 2, p. 181-192.
- Walker, H.J., 1976, Depositional environments in the Colville River delta, <u>in</u> Miller, T.P., ed., Recent and ancient sedimentary environments in Alaska: Anchorage, Alaska Geological Society, p. C1-C22.
- Walker, H.J., 1977, Monitoring saltwater and freshwater wedges in an arctic delta, <u>in</u> Coastal resources: Baton Rouge, Louisiana State University, Geoscience and Man, v. 18, p. 147-153.
- Walker, H.J., 1978, Lake tapping in the Colville River delta, <u>in</u> International Conference on Permafrost, 3rd, Edomonton, Alberta, 1978, Proceedings: National Research Council of Canada, v. 1, p. 233-238.
- Walker, H.J., 1983, Guidebook to permafrost and related features of the Colville River delta, Alaska, Guidebook 2: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, University of Alaska, Fairbanks.

- Walker, H.J., and Brewer, M., 1977, Patterns on the Alaskan tundra: Geographical Magazine, v. 50, no. 1, p. 42-45.Walker, H.J., and Harris, M., 1976, Perched ponds: An arctic variety: Arctic, v. 29, p. 233-238.
- Walker, H.J., and Matsukura, Y., 1979, Barchans and barchan-like dunes as developed in two contrasting areas with restricted source regions: Institute of Geoscience Annual Report, Tsukuba, v. 5, p. 43-46.
- Walker, H.J., and McColoy, J.M., 1969, Morphologic change in two arctic deltas: Washington, D.C., Arctic Institute of North America Research Paper 49, 91 p.
- Walker, H.J., and Morgan, H.H., 1964, Unusual weather and river bank erosion in the delta of the Colville River, Alaska: Arctic v. 17, p. 41-47.
- Webber, P.J., 1984, Terrain sensitivity and recovery in Arctic regions: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 135-136.
- Weller, M.W., and Derksen, D.V., 1979, The geomorphology of Teshekpuk Lake in relation to coastline configuration of Alaska's coastal plain: Arctic, v. 32, no. 2, p. 152-160.
- Wentworth, C.K., 1936, An analysis of the shapes of glacial cobbles: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 6, p. 85-108.
- Williams, J.R., 1965, Ground water in permafrost regions, with emphasis on Alaska an annotated bibliography, including a glossary of terms: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1792, 297 p.
- Williams, J.R., 1970, A review of water resources of the Umiat area. Northern Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 636, 8 p.
- Williams, J.R., 1979, Stratigraphy of the Gubik Formation at Skull Cliff, northern Alaska, <u>in</u> Johnson, K.M., and Williams, J.R., eds., The United States Geological Survey in Alaska - Accomplishments during 1978: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 804B, p. 31-33.
- Williams, J.R., 1983a, Engineering-geologic maps of northern Alaska, Meade River Quadrangle: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 83-294, 29 p., 1 pl., scale 1:250,000.
- Williams, J.R., 1983b, Engineering-geologic maps of northern Alaska, Wainwright Quadrangle: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 83-457, 28 p., 1 pl., scale 1:250,000.
- Williams, J.R., and Carter, L.D., 1984, Engineering-geologic maps of northern Alaska: Barrow Quadrangle: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 84- 124, 39 p. 2 sheet, scale 1:250,000.
- Williams, J.R., Carter, L.D. and Yeend, W., 1978, Coastal plain deposits of NPRA, <u>in</u> Johnson, K.M., ed., The United State Geological Survey in Alaska: accomplishments during 1977: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 772-B, p. B20-B22.
- Williams, J.R., Yeend, W., Carter, L.D., and Hamilton, T.D., 1977, Preliminary surficial deposits map of National Petroleum Reserve -Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 77-868, 2 sheets, scale 1:500,000.
- Williams, P.J., 1984. Moisture in frozen soils: Fourth International Conference on Permafrost, Fairbanks, July 18-22, 1983, Final Proceedings, Washington, D.C., National Academy Press, p. 64-66.Wilson, A.T., 1964, Origin of ice ages: an ice shelf theory for Pleistocene glaciation: Nature, v. 201, p. 147-149.
- Wiseman, W.J., Jr., Coleman, J.M., Gregory, A., Hus, S.A., Short, A.D., Suhayda, J.N., Walters, C.D., Jr., and Wright, L.D., 1973, Alaskan arctic coastal processes and morphology: Louisiana State University Coastal Studies Institute, Technical Report 149, 171 p.
- Witmer, R.J., 1980, Availability of palynomorph and foraminifera microscope slides from test wells of National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska: Group I: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 80-193, 21 p.
- Witmer, R.J., 1981, Availability of palynomorph and Foraminifera microscope slides from test wells of National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska: Group III- final release: U.S. Geological Survey 81-1081, 14 p.
- Witmer, R.J., Haga, Hideyo, and Mickey, M.B., 1981, Biostratigraphic report of thirty-three wells drilled from 1975 to 1981 in National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 81-1166, 47 p.
- Witmer, R.J., Mickey, M.B., and Haga, Hideyo, 1981, Biostratigrahic correlations of selected test wells of National Petroleum Reserve in Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 81-1165, 89 p., 6 pl.
- Woolson, J.R., and others, 1962, Seismic and gravity surveys of Naval Petroleum Reserve No. 4 and adjoining areas, Alaska: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 304-A, p. 1-25.
- Yeend, Warren, 1983, Engineering-geologic maps of northern Alaska, Lookout Ridge Quadrangle: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 83-279, 2 sheets, scale 1:250,000.
- Yeend, Warren, 1984, Engineering-geologic maps of northern Alaska: Utukok River Quadrangle: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 84-682, 2 sheets, scale 1:250,000.
- Zagwijn, W.H., 1974, The Pliocene-Pleistocene boundary in western and southern Europe: Boreas, v. 3, p. 75-97.